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ealed Air Corporation is a
leading global manufac-
turer of a wide range of
food, protective and specialty
packaging materials and systems.

Our principal food packaging
materials and systems include a
wide range of high perfor-
mance materials including
shrink bag products, shrink
film products, non-shrink lami-
nate products, and packaging
systems marketed primarily
under the Cryovac® trademark
for a broad range of perishable
foods. These products also
include Darfresh® vacuum
skin packaging, Dri-Loc®
absorbent pads used for the
retail packaging of meat, fish
and poultry, and foam and
solid plastic trays and containers

for the packaging of a wide
variety of food products.

Our principal protective and
specialty packaging products are
Bubble Wrap® and AirCap® air
cellular cushioning materials,
Fill-Air™ and Rapid Fill® inflat-
able packaging, Instapak®
polyurethane foam packaging sys-
tems, Cell-Aire®, Stratocell®,
and Cellu-Cushion® polyethyl-
ene foam products, Korrvu®
suspension and retention pack-
aging, a wide range of protective
and durable mailers and bags
sold under a variety of trade-
names including the widely rec-
ognized Jiffy® trademark,
shrink and non-shrink films,
and certain paper-based protec-
tive packaging materials and
packaging systems.

The paper used to print the front sec-
tion of this report contains 10% post-
consumer recycled fiber. The paper
used to print the financial section of
this report was manufactured by the
Company’s Reading, PA paper mill and

contains 100% recovered fiber.

® Registered in the United States
Patent and Trademark Office.
Trademarks are also registered in vari-
ous other countries.

© Sealed Air Corporation 2002. All
rights reserved.




In 2@@1, we contin-

ued to focus on the growth

and development of our busi-

ness in a year marked with
challenges for all of us. Our Company main-
tained net sales even with 2000, continued to
progress in our strategic growth initiatives,
maintained tight control of expenses and invest-

ed for future growth.




uring 2001, in an envi-
D ronment of challenging
external factors, we

took a number of actions to
position our Company to
achieve our long-term financial
goals. These challenges included
the disruption of meat supply
caused by the outbreak of foot-
and-mouth disease, as well as
lower beef consumption due to
concerns about mad cow dis-
ease. An over-riding challenge
was worldwide economic weak-
ness, made worse by the tragic
events of September 11th. While
the effect of these external fac-
tors is diminishing, the actions
that we have taken will build on
our leadership position and help
make Sealed Air an even
stronger Company as we go for-
ward. These actions are evident
in our Company’s 2001 results:

* Net sales, excluding the nega-
tive effect of foreign currency
translation, were up 2% in this
difficult environment. Including
the effects of foreign currency
translation, our sales were essen-

tially even with last year.

* Our gross profit as a percent-
age of sales improved sequen-
tially from the first quarter
through the fourth quarter and
achieved 33.1% in the fourth
quarter. This is in the range of

our long-term business goal of

33 to 36%.

* Our strategic growth initia-

tives, including case ready,
vertical pouch packaging and
inflatables, all achieved double-
digit growth rates in the range
of 20% or more for the year.
These growth initiatives are
exciting new businesses for the
Company, and all are highlight-

ed later in this report.

* Tight expense control resulted
in marketing, administrative and
development expenses declining
on an absolute basis and as a per-
cent of net sales for the year

compared to prior year levels.

* We completed a targeted
review of our business to reduce
costs, simplify business processes
and refine our organizational
structure to better serve our
customers. After a restructuring
charge of $32.8 million in
2001, expected annual cash
savings on a full year run rate
should be approximately $23
million by the end of 2002.

* Cash flow;, once again, was a
characteristic strength of our busi-
ness. As measured by EBITDA,
operating cash flow improved
from the first quarter through the
fourth quarter, and for the full
year was 20.4% of sales, before
the impact of the restructuring
charge, which is consistent with
our long-term business goal of 20
to 24% of net sales.

* We continued investing in the

tuture of the business. Capital

expenditures totaled $146 mil-
lion for the year, which is con-
sistent with our longer-term
expected range of $125 to $150
million per year. The capital
expenditures for the year helped
support our strategic growth
objectives, mentioned above.
The Company repurchased
524,220 shares of preferred
stock in 2001, which helps to
reduce aggregarte dividend
obligations and the potential
dilutive effect on earnings per
common share. We also com-
pleted a number of tactical
bolt-on acquisitions during the
year to support the growth of
our protective and specialty

packaging segment.

In 2001, actention was focused
on the potential effect on Sealed
Air of W. R. Grace & Co.s
filing for reorganization

under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code in light of
the 1998 corporate transaction
that brought the Cryovac pack-
aging business and the former
Sealed Air under common own-
ership of the Company.
Information on this topic can
be found in Note 18 to the
Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this
report.

The theme of this year’s annual
report is “Invention, Innovation
and Commercialization.”
Beginning with Bubble Wrap®
cushioning, which we highlighted




in last year’s annual report by
recognizing its 40th anniversary,
Sealed Air Corporation has a
notable history of identifying
valuable business opportunities
and turning them into commer-
cial realities. It is this capability,
combined with the Company’s
strategic principles of establish-
ing differentiated, proprietary
products that are typically sup-
ported and delivered as a total
system solution for our cus-
tomer, that truly sets Sealed Air
apart. OQur extensive, highly
qualified sales force and techni-
cal support personnel are skilled
in value-based selling and analy-
sis so that we are able to demon-
strate to our customers the mea-
surable economic benefits of
Sealed Air solutions. With our
global reach covering 47 countries,
we can deliver Sealed Air value to
any customer, anywhere. So, our
business starts with the ability to
invent, innovate and commercial-
ize, and it continues every day
with the unique set of values that

we provide for our customers.

Despite the challenging eco-
nomic conditions that the
Company faced in 2001, long-
term external trends will help
drive the growth of the business.
These trends include:

¢ Rising global living standards

o Global emergence of the

supermarket

* Expanding meat and protein

consumption

* Growing demand for

convenience

* Increasing demand for safery

and hygiene

» Ever-greater demand for

performance and efficiency

The global expansion of the
supermarket, fueled by rising
global living standards, provides
the “cold chain,” or the refriger-
ated food distribution infra-
structure that enables the distri-
bution of centrally packaged
meats and cheeses, which drives
demand for our food packaging
systems and materials. The
time-sensitive culture of the
western world constandy pushes
requirements for convenience
items and just-in-time delivery.
This trend creates many oppor-
tunities for the Company in
both our protective and food
packaging businesses. Concerns
about safety and hygiene pro-
vide unique opportunities for
Sealed Air. Our technology
helps to assure quality and
integrity and our established
brands evoke trust and a capa-
bility to deliver results. Finally,
the trend for ever-greater
demand for performance and
efficiency is fundamental to the
growth of our business. Sealed
Air’s high performance packaging
solutions efficiently protect and
preserve the quality and integrity
of our customer’s products. Our
products are easier to use, take

less space, reduce labor, and

provide better protection, which

decreases spoilage and damage
throughout the distribution

cycle.

We remain confident in the
strong fundamentals of our
business. Cash flow remains
strong. We have exciting
growth prospects in case ready,
vertical pouch packaging and
inflatables. In addition to these,
the Company will continue to
invent, innovate and commer-
cialize new businesses. Long-
term external trends are in our
favor. We continue to build the
business based on our corporate
priorities and strategic princi-
ples, including continuous
improvement and creating and
delivering differentiated prod-
ucts and systems that add mea-
surable economic benefits to
our customers globally. More
than 17,700 Sealed Air employ-
ees, many of whom are stock-
holders, work every day to
make this a reality.

We thank our stockholders for
their continued commitment

and support.

Sy 7 Ao

William V. Hickey
President and

Chief Executive Officer

March 11, 2002




VACUUM PACKAGING

Constant evolution for growth

Billions Served

Whether its beef, pork, poultry,
[fish or cheese, Cryovac® vacuum
shrink bags package billions of
pounds of protein every year to
satisfy appetites around the world.

ore than 50 years
F i / ago, Sealed Air’s
Cryovac business

invented a shrinkable plastic
bag designed to protect and
preserve frozen turkeys.
Vacuum shrink products have
evolved ever since and remain
a cornerstone of the
Company’s perishable food
packaging technology. Sealed
Air continues the history of
innovative product and market
extensions that constantly
invigorate the product line
through a marketing innova-

tion called In-the-Bag™ mer-

chandising. Using this innova-

tion, retailers place vacuum-
shrink-packaged meat products
directly in the display case
rather than repackaging them
in a plastic-wrapped tray.

Every day grocery retailers
must succeed in the delicate
balancing act of managing
operational costs while provid-
ing today’s consumers with

the variety of meat products
they demand. Sealed Air’s new
Cryovac® In-the-Bag™ mer-
chandising program simplifies
this for retailers by providing
practical solutions for mer-
chandising carton-to-display-
case fresh red meat. Launched
in early 2001, this program has
achieved success for both

Sealed Air and our customers.

Traditionally known for our
Cryovac vacuum shrink
Barrier Bag™ technology, we
have adapted our expertise in
this area to meet the needs

of today’s meat processors,

grocery retailers and consumers.

Because of the extended shelf
life vacuum packaging provides,
In-the-Bag merchandising

makes it easier for retailers to
display a larger variety of meat
products as “feature items” _
throughout the year, and main-
tain a high in-stock position
with less worry about invento-
ry loss due to out-of-date
products. Retailers also like

the program’s carton-to-display-
case handling because it reduces
their backroom preparation
costs. Our highly abuse-resistant
Cryovac Barrier Bag packages
also protect the meat from dam-
age during distribution, present-
ing an attractive package of
meat that is more appealing
and appetizing. Ribs, roasts,
pre-marinated and precooked,
and family pack products all
lend themselves to In-the-Bag

merchandising.

Consumers will not compro-
mise on the quality, consistency
and safety of their food purchases.
Sealed Air’s In-the-Bag mer-
chandising program helps
retailers fulfill shoppers’ needs
and still address key opera-
tional issues like labor costs,
out-of-stock and out-of-date
products within the meat
department.
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In-the-Bag™ mer- reduced and backroom um shrink technology.
chandising provides an preparation is eliminat- Cryovac® In-the-Bag
extended shelf life alter- ed. Sealed Air is the merchandising is the
native for a variety of world leader in vacu- latest marketing inno-
meats from roasts to vation in a long histo-
vibs, to pre-marinated ry of successes from the
or pre-cooked . Out-of- Company’s vacuum
date and out-of-stock QOO shrink packaging rech-
meat products are QQQ nology.
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FOAM-IN-PLACE

Constant evolution for growth

Take a Load Off

By switching ro Instapak®
foams, new customers eliminat-
ed 1.9 million lbs. of excess
packaging materials in 2001.

ver 30 years ago, we
pioneered the use of
polyurethane foam

technology for protective packag-
ing. Revolutionizing the interior
cushioning market, Instapak®
foam-in-place packaging became
the first packaging material that
could be produced when and
where it was needed. The
Instapak foam-in-place packaging
process allows on-site, on-
demand production of packaging
that provides protection against
shock and vibration during ship-
ping and handling. Customer

benefits include superior product

protection, increased productivi-
ty, minimal material handling
and reduced storage requirements
for packaging. In the foam-in-
place process, a hand-held dis-
pensing system is used to manu-
ally dispense Instapak foam into a
carton lined with Instamate®
film, encapsulating and cushion-
ing the product.

In the mid 19807, Sealed Air dra-
matically reshaped the landscape
of foam-in-place packaging with
the development of the foam-in-
bag packaging concept. Unlike
foam-in-place, foam-in-bag pack-
aging is the process in which
Instapak foam is automatically
dispensed into a sealed bag. The
foam-filled bags can then be
placed exactly where the protec-
tion is needed, reducing the cus-
tomer’s material cost. The versa-
tile foam-in-bag process expands
upon the proven benefits of
foam-in-place packaging by fur-
ther reducing labor costs and pro-
viding maximum protection with

minimal material.

In November of 2001, Sealed Air
made another technological
advancement in the interior cush-
ioning market by introducing its

latest foam-in-bag packaging

innovation, the Instapacker™

Tabletop system. By comparison
to its predecessors, the new sys-
tem is easier to use and one-third
the size. In response to customer
needs, the Instapacker Tabletop
system was developed to be
simple-to-use, compact and

affordable, without sacrificing

- performance. Additionally, cus-

tomers currenty using Instapak
hand-held systems can easily
upgrade to the Instapacker
Tabletop foam-in-bag process.

The Instapacker Tabletop foam-
in-bag system offers a compelling
value to our customers that will:
© Lower their overall packaging
operation costs
° Help improve their quality
and service response time
© Enable them to use Instapak
foam in smaller work cell

environments

The speed and flexibility of the
Instapacker Tabletop system cou-
pled with the excellent product
protection of Instapak foam will
allow us to accelerate the selling
cycle, further develop existing
accounts and address new and

emerging markets.




Systewms innovation has
been a key driver of the
Instapak® foam-in-
place business. Through
the years, our systems

have evolved from hand

operated dispensers to

——> INNOVATION >

foam-in-bag systems to
fully auromared foam-
in-bag systems. The

latest equipment inno-

vation in the Instapak

family is the
Instapacker ™ Tabletop
foam-in-bag system.
This system brings the
benefits of foam-in-bag
to smaller work cell

enVIrOnments.
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CASE READY

Strategic growth initiative

N
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EROVITR

The Best Solutions for our

Customers

Sealed Air offers many different
Cryovac® Case Ready solutions
[for the multiple needs of the
global marketplace.

D y employing a unique
D% “total systems”approach,
Sealed Air Corporation

remains at the forefront of case
ready packaging, providing
answers to the challenges of
production, distribution, and
technical support. Our technol-
ogy platforms for both high-
oxygen and low-oxygen modi-
fied atmosphere packaging for
fresh mear are tailored to
address practically any regional
or national distribution objec-
tive, extend product shelf life
and freshness, and improve
package performance and

appearance.

Sealed Air’s comprehensive
offering of case ready packaging
formats includes solid plastic
barrier and barrier foam trays;
printed, plain and peelable
lidding films; overwraps; and
absorbent pads. Our “total
systems” offering is completed
by case ready packaging equip-

ment systems that deliver

production efficiency and flex-

ibility for meat processors.
p

Only Sealed Air provides the
distinctive combination of
technical expertise, sales and
marketing experience, and
retail support required to
address case ready’s complexities.
Our packaging professionals
work closely with customers to
select the right packaging
technologies from a sizeable
portfolio of options and then
combine them with a packag-
ing system that meets the cus-
tomers specific case ready
objectives. Both processors and
retailers then have the tools

for more consistent and safer
products, better inventory
management, reduced distrib-
ution costs, and better service

for shoppers.
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Sealed Air’s unigue ution of case ready trays to lidded high oxy-
“total systems” approach products. From peelable gen packages to vacuum
solves the technical and Cryovac® low oxygen skin packaging, Sealed
marketing challenges Air offers the most com-
- associated with the plete line of case ready
“““ production and distrib- technology options.
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VERTICAL POUCH PACKAGING

Strategic growth initiative

N\
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GIRIONATEH

More Sauce on the Shelf

When filled, Cryovac® pouches
take up to 40% less space than
large #10 cans. Customers get
maore product in the warehouse,
on the truck and in the kitchen.

N

ur commitment to
innovation continues
as we develop the

next generation of foodservice
packaging with vertical form-
fill-and-seal packaging systems
for high volume food produc-
tion. This product innovation
creates opportunities to gain
greater market share for food-
service products currently
being distributed in traditional

10

formats like large #10 cans,
glass jars and rigid plastic con-

talners.

Now restaurant operators can
serve chef-quality food,
prepared centrally by their
suppliers, in Cryovac® flexible
pouches with less backroom
preparation. In today’s
competitive foodservice
environment, operators know
that to thrive they must deliver
menu variety and consistent
food quality, but are chal-
lenged by a labor force that is
more difficult to find, train and
retain, as well as the need to
constantly improve operational
efficiencies and food safety.
Flexible pouch packaging can
play a critical role in address-

ing each of these issues.

Flexible pouches take up to
40% less storage space than
#10 cans; they provide nearly
100% product yield meaning
little or no product is left in
the pouch; and they contribute
to lower waste disposal costs
because their volume is signifi-
cantly less than rigid containers.
Add to that simpler product
identification and ease of use,

and the benefits for operators

are obvious. Whatever they are
serving, restaurant operators
can do so more easily and
efficiently using flexible pack-
aging. Just open the pouch and
pour the contents to heat or
serve. Not only is it simple,
but with no sharp edges, it is
safer for employees than other
packaging options.

Food safety remains critically
important. With our integrat-
ed rigid fitment adapter option,
Cryovac pouches can be
plugged into a closed-loop
dispensing system for products
such as ketchup, mustard and
sauces that eliminates all con-
tact with the condiment from
the time it is packaged until it

appears on a customer’s plate.

Technical innovations, like the
unique two-part fill capability
that simultaneously packages
liquids and particulates, have
dramatically increased the
scope of products food proces-
sors can offer in flexible pack-
aging. The result is an almost
endless array of high quality
foods in flexible pouches,
ranging from chicken alfredo
and mashed potatoes

to guacamole and cole slaw.
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Cryovac® vertical bag rebeat options and
pouch packaging solu- [fewer safety concerns all
tions are the perfect fit make this package the
Jor the food service right choice. From the

operator. Less backroom
preparation, less storage
before opening and
after disposal, in-the-

complete packaging
system at the food man-
ufacturer, to high per-
Jformance pouches, to
closed-loop dispensing
systems, Sealed Air pro-
vides the complete and
total packaging system.

VAN
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INFLATABLE PACKAGING

Strategic growth initiative

N\
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BROWTH

A Crushing Advantage

For disposal, Sealed Air inflat-
able products can be deflated
and crushed to 1% of their
inflated volume.

=
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nother important strate-
A gic growth initiative for
Sealed Air is Inflatable

Packaging, Fill-Air™ packaging
is the latest in a long tradition of
invention, innovation and com-
mercialization in Sealed Air’s
protective and specialty packag-
ing segment. Beginning with
Bubble Wrap® bubble cushion-
ing in the 1960’s and continuing
over the last three decades with
Instapak® foam-in-place sys-
tems, Jiffy® mailer products,
polyethylene foam packaging
and Korrvu® suspension and
retention packaging, the Fill-Air
cushion system is the latest in a
long string of success stories for
the Company.

Major distribution and fulfillment
centers recognize the many bene-
fits that Sealed Air’s inflatable sys-
tems can bring to their produc-
tion, logistics and marketing
activities. Using Sealed Air’s inflat-
able systems, customers create on-
site, on-demand void fill cushions
right at the packing locations
without the need for large storage
bins or bulky containers.

Sealed Air’s inflatable systems
offer efficiency, versatility and
environmental benefits. Fill-Air

equipment systems with the
Autobin™ replenishment sys-
tem automatically ensure that
cushions are produced and ready
at the packing line without delay.
Fill-Air cushions can be pro-
duced in a range of sizes on-
demand to meet the changing
needs encountered in random-
order-size pick-pack fulfillment
operations. The system produces
new cushions from flat film,
cither through a manual operator
interface, or automatically when
the Autobin replenishment
option is installed.

Unlike paper dunnage and loose
fill packing products, Fill-Air
materials leave no mess or dusty
paper residue, either on the pack-
ing line floor or at the end-user
who opens the package. Fill-Air
cushions can be reused numer-
ous times or recycled at a Sealed

Air facility.

Packages protected with Fill-Air
cushions deliver what the cus-
tomer wants — quality products
that arrive without damage and
without the mess of loose fill,
foam, peanuts or paper dunnage.
All of these benefits add up to
very satisfied customers and a

growing business for Sealed Air.
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>INVENTION >

Fill-Air™ inflatable
cushioning is the latest
in a long tradition of
invention, innovation
and commercialization
in Sealed Air’s protec-
tive packaging busi-
ness. Using Fill-Air

cusbiom, customers

create on-site, on-
demand void fill cush-
ions at the packaging
location. With Fill-Air

OO
900
QO

¢

Bocimmy
. aosyf

inflatable cushions,
products arrive without
damage and without
the mess of loose fill,
Jfoam peanuts or paper
dunnage. It all adds up

to satisfied customers

and a growing business

Jor Sealed Air.
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CONTINUING THE LEGACY

he product solutions
on the previous pages
outline five unique

examples where the Company

has demonstrated a clear ability
over time to invent, iInnovate
and commercialize new busi-
nesses. Sealed Air is well posi-
tioned to continue this remark-
able legacy. Today, the Company
spends approximately 2% of
sales, or twice the industry
average, on research and devel-

opment.

This new technology pipeline,

combined with the Company’s
core competency in total system
solutions, technical applications

»
&
>
]
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RESFARCH ¢& DEVELOPMENT
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support, extensive sales and ser-
vice support and deep under-
standing of end user markets,
helps to ensure that the
Company will continue to cre-
ate exciting new opportunities
for growth.

Although it may be too early to
predict ultimate success of these
new products, Sealed Air does
have some exciting ideas that
position us to continue the
legacy of invention, innovation

and commercialization:

* The Company recently intro-
duced Cryovac® OS films, the
world’s first commercial poly-
mer-based, oxygen scavenging
films designed to increase the
shelf life and quality of perish-
able foods as well as improve
packaging and supply-chain
efficiencies for food producers.

* Cryovac retortable films are
extraordinary high performance
films that allow the extension of
the vertical pouch packaging
business into food products like
cooked chicken, tuna fish or
beef stew that require heat steril-
ization (retort) after packaging
in order to be safely stored under

non-refrigerated conditions.

* Cryovac NewGen laminates
are fully coextruded materials
designed to replace traditional
trap-printed, adhesive bonded
products for the packaging of
smoked and processed meats
and cheeses. These products
add value by improving print
appearance in retail display and
eliminating concerns about

delamination failure.

* Sealed Air Corporation’s latest
innovation in polyethylene
foam is Cellu-Cushion®-NS.
This product is founded upon a
patent pending technology that
provide non-skid characteristics
which prevents items from
shifting in a variety of non-
packaging related applications
including rug underlayment,
drawer and tool box liners,
workstation mats, PC work

areas and sports mats.

Our commitment to R&D has
resulted in an intellectual prop-
erty portfolio that includes over
2,300 active patents worldwide.
This strategy of invention, inno-
vation and commercialization
has created some of the most
trusted and recognizable brands
in the food, protective and spe-
cialty packaging business.




Sealed Air’s commit-
ment to new technology
development combined
with the Company’s
core competency in
total systems solutions,
applications support,
sales support and a deep
understanding of end

——> INNOVATION =

user markets, helps

to ensure that the
Company will continue
its legacy of invention,

innovation and

commercialization.
Exciting new products

include (clockwise from
the upper left)
Cryovac® OS films,
Cryovac Retortable films,
Cellu-Cushion®-NS
foams and Cryovac
NewGen laminates.
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SEALED AIR’S GLOBAL REACH

Provides the backbone for continued invention, innovation and commercialization

900
900
OO0

OPERATIONS IN 47 COUNTRIES

BUBBLE WRAP® OUR GLOBAL BRANDS REACH
INSTAPAK® o~

APPROXIMATELY @@f/c@
JIFFY®

CRYOVAC® OF THE WORLD'S POPULATION
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Selected Financial Data (1)

{In thousands of dollars, except per share data)

2001 2000 1999 . 1998 © 1997
Consolidated Statement of Earnings Data:
Net sales $3,067,482 $3,067,714 $2,931,853 $2,580,207 $1,875,273
Gross profit 990,287 1,035,304 1,028,722 868,736 646,002
Operating profit 387,391 468,463 452,192 259,332 267,744
Earnings before income taxes 297,452 413,429 395,653 198,947 263,672
Net earnings 156,697 225,319 211,461 73,007 173,732
“Series A convertible preferred stock '
dividends 55,024 64,266 71,422 53,921
Earnings per common share 3 ‘
Basic $ 1.30 $ 247 $ .69 § 004 § 2.54
Diluted $ 1.22 $ 1.93 $ 1.68 $ 0.02 $ 2.39
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital 4 $ 149,372 $ 202,512 $ 221,130 $ 309,624 $ 343,741
Total assets @ ‘ 3,907,909 4,090,882 3,887,583 4,066,982 1,646,831
Long-term debt, less current portion 4 788,111 944,453 665,116 996,526 —_
Series A convertible preferred stock @ 1,366,154 1,392,373 1,761,662 1,791,093 —
Total shareholders’ equiry ©) 850,152 753,129 551,030 437,045 1,352,628
Other Data:
EBIT © § 373,850 § 477,942 $ 453,779 $ 252,576 § 263,672
Depreciation and amortization 220,616 219,641 223,399 195,954 111,080
EBITDA @ ' 594,466 697.583 677,178 448,530 374,752
Capital expenditures 146,277 114,197 75,080 82,408 101,997

(1) The Selected Financial Data include the operations of the Cryovac packaging business {“Cryovac”) for all periods presented. The operating results, cash flows, assets and
liabilities of old Sealed Air are included for all periods subsequent to March 31, 1998. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) The Series A convertible preferred stock pays a cash dividend at an annual rate of $2.00 per share, payable quarterly in arrears as declared by the Board of Directors, and is
subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2018 at $50 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends to the extent that it then remains ourstanding. Dividends
of $0.50 per share have been declared for each quarter following the issuance of the shares on March 31, 1998.

(3) Prior to March 31, 1998, Cryovac did not have a separately identifiable capital structure upon which a calculation of earnings per common share could be based. In cal-
culating basic and diluted earnings per common share for periods prior to March 31, 1998, retroactive recognition has been given to the various actions undertaken in con-
nection with the Cryovac Transaction.

(4) In December 2001, the Company and certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into a U.S. accounts receivable securitization program (the “Receivables Facility”) and sold
$95,600 of such receivables. This amount was used to pay down certain of the Company’s outstanding borrowings. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) Shareholders’ equity for 1997 represents the net assets of Cryovac.
(6) EBIT is defined as earnings before interest expense and provisions for income taxes.

(7) EBITDA is defined as EBIT plus depreciation, goodwill amortization and amortization of other intangible assets. EBITDA is a frequently used measure of a company’s
ability to generate cash to service its obligations, including debt service obligations, and to finance capital and other expenditures, EBITDA does not purport to represent
net earnings or net cash provided by operating activities, as those terms are defined under generally accepred accounting principles, and should not be considered as an alter-
native to such measurements or as an indicator of the Company’s performance.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Results of Operations

Discussion and Analysis of
Operating Results

Net Sales

The Company’s net sales in 2001 were
essentially even compared with 2000
and increased 5% in 2000 compared
with 1999.

Net sales in 2001 were essentially even due
to the net effect of added net sales of
acquired businesses, offset by lower unit
volume for certain products and the nega-
tive effect of foreign currency translation.
Excluding the negative effect of foreign
currency translation, net sales would have
increased 2% compared to 2000.

The increase in net sales in 2000 was due
primarily to higher unit volume, the
added net sales of several acquired busi-
nesses and higher average selling prices for
certain of the Companys products.
Excluding the negative effect of foreign
currency translation, net sales would have
increased 9% compared to 1999.

Foreign currency translation had an unfa-
vorable impact on net sales in 2001 of
approximately $75,000,000, primarily
due to the continued weakness of foreign
currencies in the Asia-Pacific region,
Europe and Latin America compared with
the U.S. dollar. Foreign currency trans-
lation had an unfavorable impact on
net sales in 2000 of approximately
$116,000,000 primarily due to the weak-
ness of foreign currencies compared with
the U.S. dollar in Europe and, to a lesser
extent, the Asia-Pacific region.

Net sales from North American operations
in 2001 decreased slighdy compared to
2000 and increased 6% in 2000 compared
to 1999. The decrease in 2001 was pri-
marily due to lower unit volume for cer-
tain products, partially offset by the added
net sales of acquired businesses. The
increase in 2000 was primarily due to
increased unit volume, higher average sell-
ing prices for certain products and the
added net sales of several acquired busi-
nesses. Substantially all of the North
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American net sales for each year represent
net sales from the United States.

Net sales from foreign operations repre-
sented approximately 42% of net sales in
2001 and 2000, and 43% of net sales in
1999. Net sales from foreigh operations
increased 1% in 2001 and 2% in 2000.
The increase in 2001 was due primarily to
the added net sales of acquired businesses,
partially offset by the negative effect of for-
eign currency translation. Excluding the
negative effect of foreign currency transla-
tion, net sales from foreign operations
would have increased 6% compared to
2000. The increase in 2000 was primarily
due to increased unit volume, the added
net sales of several small acquired busi-
nesses and, to a lesser extent, higher aver-
age selling prices for certain products
partially offset by the negative impact of
foreign currency translation, principally in
Europe. Excluding the negative impact of
foreign currency translation, net sales from
foreign operations would have increased
12% in 2000.

Net sales of the Company’s food pack-
aging segment, which consists primarily
of Cryovac® food packaging products,
constituted 61% of net sales in 2001,
60% in 2000 and 61% in 1999. The
balance of the net sales was comprised
of products in the Company’s protective
and specialty packaging segment, which
consists primarily of Instapak® chemicals
and equipment, shrink films for non-food
applications and related equipment,
Bubble Wrap® cushioning, polyethylene
foam packaging products, and Jiffy® pro-

tective and durable mailers and bags.

Net sales of food packaging products
increased 2% in 2001 and 3% in 2000.
The increase in 2001 was due to the added
net sales of acquired businesses and, to a
lesser extent, higher average selling prices
and higher unit volume for certain prod-
ucts, partially offset by the negative effect
of foreign currency translation. The food
packaging segment, which experienced
disruptions earlier in 2001 due to reduc-
tions in meat supply caused by the out-
break of foot-and-mouth disease and
declines in beef consumption resulting
from concerns over bovine spongiform

encephalopathy (BSE or "mad-cow" dis-
ease), principally in Europe, continued to
improve in the third and fourth quarters
of 2001, as supply and consumption
returned to more normal levels. Excluding
the negative effect of foreign currency
translation, net sales would have increased
5%. The increase in 2000 was due to
higher unit volume, the added ner sales of
several acquired businesses and higher
average selling prices for certain of this seg-
ments products, partially offset by the
negative effect of foreign currency transla-
tion. Excluding the negative effect of for-
eign currency translation, net sales would
have increased 7%.

Among the major classes of products in
the food packaging segment, net sales of
flexible packaging materials and related
equipment remained flar in 2001 and
increased modestly in 2000. Net sales in
2001 were flat due to the net effect of
higher average selling prices for certain
flexible packaging materials, and to a lesser
extent, the added net sales of acquired
businesses, offset by the negative effect of
foreign currency transladon. Excluding
the negative effect of foreign currency
translation, net sales of flexible packaging
materials and related equipment would
have increased 2% in 2001. The increase
in 2000 was due primarily to higher unit
volume and, to a lesser extent, higher aver-
age selling prices for certain flexible pack-
aging materials, which were offset by the
negative effect of foreign currency transla-
tion. Excluding the negative effect of for-
eign currency translation, net sales of
flexible packaging materials and related
equipment would have increased 5% in
2000. Net sales of rigid packaging and
absorbent products increased 21% in
2001 and 27% in 2000. The increase in
2001 was primarily due to the added net
sales of Dolphin Packaging ple, which
was acquired in 2000, and other small
businesses, and to a lesser extent, higher
unit volume for certain products, partially
offset by the negative effect of foreign
currency translation. Excluding the nega-
tive effect of foreign currency translation,
net sales of rigid packaging and absorbent
products would have increased 23% in
2001. The increase in 2000 was due pri-
marily to the added net sales of Dolphin




Packaging plc and other small businesses
following their acquisitions, higher unit
volume and higher average selling prices
for certain products, partially offset by the
negative effect of foreign currency transla-
tion. Excluding the negative effect of for-
eign currency translation, net sales of rigid
packaging and absorbent products would
have increased 30% in 2000,

Net sales of protective and specialty pack-
aging products decreased 4% in 2001 but
increased 7% in 2000. The decrease in
2001 was due primarily to lower unit vol-
ume for certain products due to the reces-
sionary environment and, to a lesser
extent, the negative effect of foreign cur-
rency translation, partially offset by the
added net sales of acquired businesses.
Excluding the negative effect of foreign
currency translation, net sales would have
decreased 2%. The increase in 2000 was
due primarily to higher unit volume, the
added net sales of several small acquired
businesses and certain higher average sell-
ing prices for certain of the segments
products, partially offset by the negative
effect of foreign currency translation.
Excluding the negative effect of foreign
currency translation, net sales would have
increased 10% in 2000.

Costs and Margins

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was
32.3% in 2001, 33.7% in 2000 and
35.1% in 1999. The decrease in 2001
gross profit as a percentage of net sales was
primarily due to lower sales volume of
certain protective and specialty packaging
products as well as changes in product mix
compared to the 2000 period and was
partially offset by lower costs for certain
raw materials. The decrease in 2000 gross
profit as a percentage of nét sales was pri-
marily due to higher raw material prices
and energy-related costs.

Marketing, administrative and develop-
ment expenses declined 1% in 2001 and
2% in 2000. The decline in 2001 and
2000 was attributable to cost control mea-
sures and the impact of foreign currency
translation. Marketing, administrative and
development expenses as a percentage of
net sales were 16.7% in 2001, 16.8% in
2000 and 18.0% in 1999.

"Goodwill amortization increased in 2001

and 2000 due to acquisitions. Beginning
January 1, 2002, in accordance with State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 142, the Company is no
longer recording amortization expense
related to goodwill. See below under
"Recently Issued Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards” for a discussion of
this new standard.

In 2001, the Company incurred restruc-

turing and other charges of $32,805,000. -

See below for a discussion of these charges.
In 2000, the Company reversed
$1,247,000 of its accruals related to a
1998 restructuring program and recog-
nized a restructuring credit, as costs of that
program were slightly less than originally

anticipated.

Operating profit decreased 17% in 2001
bur increased 4% in 2000 compared with
the prior year. The decrease in 2001 was
primarily due to restructuring and other
charges and the lower gross profit dis-
cussed above. The increase in 2000 was
due to an increase in net sales in 2000 and
the changes in costs and expenses dis-
cussed above. The food packaging seg-
ment contributed 58%, 54% and 55% of
the Company’s operating profit in 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively, before taking
into consideration corporate operating
expenses {consisting primarily of goodwill
amortization and restructuring and other
charges). The Company’s protective and
specialty packaging segment contributed
the balance of operating profit. As a per-
centage of net sales, operating profit for
the Company was 12.6% in 2001, 15.3%

in 2000 and 15.4% in 1999. Before.

deducting restructuring and other charges,
operating profit as a percent of net sales
was 13.7% in 2001.

Interest expense increased over the prior
year in both 2001 and 2000. The increase
in 2001 was primarily due to higher aver-
age levels of debt outstanding during 2001
compared to the corresponding 2000
period primarily due to additional bor-

rowings made in 2000 in connection with

business acquisitions and stock repur-
chases made under the Company’s stock
repurchase program. The increase in 2000
was due to the additional borrowings

noted above and to higher weighted aver-
age interest rates.

Other income (expense), net, was expense
of $13,541,000 in 2001, income of
$9,479,000 in 2000 and income of
$1,587,000 in 1999. The 2001 expense
was primarlly due to the payment of
approximately $8,000,000 related to the
Company’s guarantee, entered into at the
time of the Cryovac Transaction (defined
below), of certain debt payable by
W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., a subsidiary
of New Grace (defined below), which
subsidiary filed for reorganization along
with New Grace under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. bankruptcy code on April 2, 2001.
The 2000 other income was primarily
due to a one-time cash fee of $10,000,000
received from a third party for the assign-
ment of a contract. The change in 2000
compared with 1999 primarily represents
foreign currency exchange losses and the
inclusion of the one-time cash fee income
of $10,000,000 as discussed above.

The Company’s effective income tax
rates were 47.3%, 45.5% and 46.6%
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
These effective tax rates were higher than
statutory rates due primarily to the non-
deductibility of certain goodwill amortiza-
tion. The effective rate in 2001 was higher
than 2000 due primarily to lower earnings
before income taxes. The effective tax rate
in 2000 was lower than the 1999 effective
tax rate primarily due to a decline in tax
rates in certain countries. The Company
expects that its effective tax rate will
decrease as a resule of its implementation
of SFAS No. 142. See below under
"Recently Issued Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards" for a discussion of
this new standard.

Net Earnings

As a result of the above, net earnings
decreased 30% to $156,697,000 in 2001
compared to $225,319,000 in 2000. Net
earnings increased 7% to $225,319,000 in
2000 compared to $211,461,000 in 1999,
primarily resulting from the Company’s
higher operating profit in 2000.

Basic earnings per common share were
$1.30 for 2001, $2.47 for 2000 and $1.69
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for 1999. Diluted earnings per common
share were $1.22 for 2001, $1.93 for 2000
and $1.68 for 1999. The basic earnings
per common share calculations for 2001,
2000 and 1999 include a per share gain
(excess of book value over repurchase price
of preferred stock} of $0.09, $0.54 and
$0.02, respectively, attributable to repur-
chases of preferred stock in each of the
periods. To calculate difuted earnings per
common share, the excess of book value
over the repurchase price of the Com-
panys Series A Preferred Stock of
$7,456,000, $45,283,000 and $1,568,000
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, is
excluded from the calculations. The
diluted earnings per common share in
each period were calculated assuming con-
version of the shares of preferred stock
repurchased during each of the respective
periods in accordance with the Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s Emerging
Issues Task Force Topic D-53 guidance.
The effect of the conversion of the Com-
panys outstanding convertible preferred
stock is not considered in the calculations
of diluted earnings per common share for
any of the periods presented because the
effect would be antidilutive and such
assumed conversions are included only if
the resulting impact would dilute earnings
per common share.

2001 Restructuring Program

During 2001, based primarily on weaken-
ing economic conditions, especially in the
U.S., the Company conducted a review of
its business to reduce costs and expenses,
simplify business processes and organiza-
tional structure, and to refine further the
Company’s manufacturing operations and
product offerings. As a result of such
review, which was completed in the fourth
quarter, the Company announced and
began implementing a restructuring pro-
gram that resulted in charges to operations
in the second, third and fourth quarters
of 2001. Such charges amounted to
$32,805,000 for the year ended December
31, 2001, and included $23,877,000 of
employee termination costs, $1,641,000
of facility exit costs and $7,287,000 of
long-lived asset impairments. The por-
tion of this restructuring charge related
to the Company’s food packaging seg-
ment amounted to $21,116,000 and
the portion applicable to the protec-
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tive and specialty packaging segment
amounted to $11,689,000. The asset im-
pairment amount of $7,287,000 includes
write-downs or write-offs of $3,877,000
for property, plant and equipment,

$3,342,000 for goodwill, and $68,000 for -

certain other long-lived assets. These
impairments related to decisions to ratio-
nalize and realign production of certain
small product lines and close several man-
ufacturing and warehouse facilides in

North America, Europe, South Africa and

“ the Asia Pacific region. The annual reduc-

tion of depreciadon and amortization
expense as a result of such asset impair-
ments is expected to be $365,000. Sub-
stantially all of the property, plant and
equipment has either been disposed of or
is held for disposition. The remaining car-
rying value as of December 31, 2001 of
assets held for disposition was approxi-
mately $745,000 and the effect of sus-
pending depreciation of such assets is
immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company expects to
incur $25,518,000 of cash outlays to carry
out the restructuring program, of which
approximately $5,821,000 was paid in
2001. These cash outlays include primar-
ily severance and other personnel-related
costs and the costs of terminating lease
and other contractual arrangements. In
connection with the restructuring, the
Company is eliminating approximately
793 positions. However, with the pro-
spective addition of approximately 323
jobs in connection with the Company’s
realignment or relocation of certain man-
ufacturing activides, the net reduction in
headcount positions is expected to be
approximately 470. These 793 positions
are from all geographic areas in which the
Company does business but are primarily
involved in the Company’s manufacturing
and sales and marketing functions in
North America and Europe. Through
December 31, 2001, 220 of the 793 posi-
tions have been eliminated, and the
remaining restructuring actions accrued in
2001, including the disposition of
impaired assets, are expected to be
substantially completed during 2002,
although certain cash outlays are expected
to continue into future years.

The Company anticipates annual cost sav-
ings from this restructuring program of
approximately $23,000,000. The cost

savings are estimated to be realized ac their
full year run rate by the end of 2002, once
all restructuring actions have been com-
pleted, and include the non-cash annual
reduction of depreciation expense as a
result of the asset impairments discussed
above. v

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's principal sources of lig-
uidity are cash flow from operations and
amoungs available under the Company's
existing lines of credit, which include the
Company’s principal revolving credit
agreements mentioned below and various
committed and uncommitted lines of
credit maintained primarily with respect
to the Company’s foreign operations. In
addition, during 2001, the Company and
certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into
a facility, referred to below as the “Receiv-
ables Facility,” under which interests in up
to $125,000,000 of eligible accounts
receivable generated by certain of the
Company’s U.S. subsidiaries may be sold
to a bank and a commercial paper issuer
administered by that bank.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities
amounted to $578,693,000 in 2001,
$329,413,000 in 2000 and $430,354,000
in 1999. The increase in 2001 was
primarily due to changes in operating
assets and liabilities in the ordinary course
of business, as discussed below under
“Changes In Working Capital”, and
$95,600,000 of receivables interests sold
under the Receivables Facility, partally
offset by the Company’s lower net earn-
ings in 2001. The decrease in net cash pro-
vided by operating activities in 2000
compared to 1999 was primarily due to
changes in operating assets and liabilities
in the ordinary course of business partially
offset by an increase in net earnings.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities
amounted to $177,932,000 in 2001,
$348,989,000 in 2000 and $97,285,000
in 1999. In each year, investing activities
consisted primarily of capital expenditures
and acquisitions. The decrease in net cash
used in these activities in 2001 was due




1o a lower level of acquisition activity,
partially offset by a higher level of capiral
expenditures. The increase in net cash used
in investing activities in 2000 comnpared
0 1999 was primarily due to the higher
level of capital expenditures and a higher
level of acquisidion activity. In 2001,
cash used to complete acquisitions was

$36,007,000. In 2000, the Company used .

$237,541,000 of cash to complete acquisi-
tions compared to $25,811,000 in 1999.
In each year, cash used for acquisitions was
net of cash acquired in those acquisitions.
The Company acquired approximately
$8,589,000 of cash in acquisitions in
2000. Cash acquired in acquisitions was
not material in 1999 or 2001.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures were $146,277,000
in 2001, $114,197,000 in 2000 and
$75,080,000 in 1999. Capital expendi-
tures for the Company's food packaging
segment amounted to $103,837,000,
$75,773,000 and $51,307,000 and for
the protective and specialty packaging
segment amounted to $42,440,000,
$38,424,000 and $23,773,000 in 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively. There were
no corporate capital expenditures in 2001,
2000 or 1999. The changes in capital
expenditures in each year were primarily
due to the management of capital plan-
ning and project spending. The Comparny
currently anticipates that capital expendi-
wres in 2002 will be in the range of
$125,000,000 to $150,000,000.

Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities

amounted to $402,583,000 in 2001,
while net cash provided by financing

activities amounted to $7,671,000 in-

2000. Net cash used in financing activities
amounted to $367,183,000 in 1999.

The increase in net cash used in financing
activities in 2001 primarily reflected net
debt repayments of $312,907,000 and a
timing difference relating to the payment
of dividends on the Company’s outstand-
ing Series A convertible preferred stock,
partially offset by a decrease in cash used to
purchase the Company’s capital stock.
Such timing difference arose from the

Company’s pre-funding in December
2001 of the dividend payable on Janu-
ary 2, 2002. The aggregate dollar amount
of that dividend was approximately
$13,682,000. The Company currently
expects to fund any dividends payable on
such preferred stock in 2002 on their pay-
ment dates, which, once declared, are the
first business day of each calendar quarrer.
As a result the Company expects that it

will not use any cash in the first quarcer of

2002 to pay the preferred stock dividend
that is payable on April 1, 2002.

Proceeds from long-term debt in 2001
include $295,773,000 of net proceeds
from the issuance on June 26, 2001 of
$300,000,000 aggregate principal amount
of 8.75% Senior Notes due July 1, 2008
(the “8.75% Senior Notes”) under Rule
144A and Regulation S of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended. The net pro-
ceeds from the issuance of these Notes
were used to refinance a portion of the
borrowings under the 2003 Facility
described below. These Notes were priced
at 98.591% to yield 9.025%. Accrued
interest on these Notes is payable semi-
annually on January 1 and July 1 of each
year, with the first payment in January
2002.

The increase in net cash provided by

" financing activities in 2000 was primarily

due o net borrowings of $420,869,000 in
2000 compared to net debt repayments of
$256,262,000 in 1999, partially offset by
an increase in 2000 in purchases of the
Company’s capital stock. The net borrow-
ings were incurred primarily to finance a
portion of the cost of acquisitions and
repurchases of shares of the Company’s
capital stock. The net cash used in 1999
was used primarily to repay outstanding
debt, primarily under the Company’s
principal revolving credit agreements, to
pay dividends on the Companys out-
standing preferred stock and to repurchase
shares of the Companys capital stock.
The proceeds of long-term debt in 1999
included net proceeds of $500,491,000
from the issuance of the Euro Notes and
the 6.95% Senior Notes, mentioned
below, which were used to refinance debt
under the Company’s principal revolving
credit agreements.

Repurchases of Capital Stock

During 2001, the Company repurchased
524,220 shares of its preferred stock at a
cost of approximately $18,754,000. Dur-
ing 2000, the Company repurchased
7,384,637 shares of its preferred stock and
494,737 shares of its common stock at a
cost of approximately $323,948,000 and
$22,873,000, respectively. During 1999,
the Company repurchased 582,400 shares
of its preferred stock and 251,000 shares of
its common stock at a cost of approxi-
mately $27,552,000 and $14,189,000,
respectively.

All such purchases were made pursuant to
a share repurchase program adopted by the
Companys Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2001, the total number of
common and preferred shares authorized
to be repurchased under this program
amounted to the equivalent of approxi-
mately 16,977,000 shares of common
stock on an as-converted basis, of which
approximately 8,928,000 had been repur-
chased, leaving the equivalent of approxi-
mately 8,049,000 shares of common stock
on an as-converted basis available for
repurchase under the program.

Changes in Working Capiral

At December 31, 2001, the Company had
working capital of $149,372,000, or 4%
of total assets, compared to working capi-
tal of $202,512,000, or 5% of total assets,
at December 31, 2000. The decline in
working capital in 2001 was primarily due
to a decrease in notes and accounts receiv-
able and in inventory and an increase in
other current liabilities, partially offset by a
decrease in short-term borrowings. The
approximate $131,000,000 decrease in
receivables was primarily due to the
$95,600,000 of receivables interests sold
in December 2001 under the Receivables
Facility described below and also reflected
the dming of payments made by cus-
tomers. The decrease in inventory was pri-
marily due to the decline in certain raw
material costs and lower on-hand inven-
tory quantities resulting from the Com-
panys improvements in inventory
management. The increase in other cur-
rent liabilities was primarily due to an
increase in income taxes payable and an
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increase in accrued restructuring costs,
which are discussed above. The decrease in
short-term borrowings was primarily due
to repayments of amounts outstanding

under the 364-Day Facility.
Current and Quick Ratios

The ratio of current assets to current
liabilities (current ratio) was 1.2 at Decem-
ber 31, 2001 and 1.3 at December 31,
2000. The ratio of current assets less
inventory to current liabilities. (quick ratio)
was 0.8 ar December 31, 2001 and 0.9 at
December 31, 2000.

Accounts Receivable Facility

In December 2001, the Company and
certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into
an accounts receivable securitization pro-
gram (the “Receivables Facility”) with a
bank and an issuer of commercial paper
administered by that bank (the “ICP”).
Under the Receivables Facility, the Com-
pany’s two primary operating subsidiaries,
Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation
(US) (the “Originators”), sell all of their
eligible U.S. accounts receivable to Sealed
Air Funding Corporation (“SA Funding
Corp.”), an indirect wholly-owned sub-
sidiary of the Company that was formed
for the sole purpose of entering into the
Receivables Facility. SA Funding Corp. in
turn sells an undivided ownership interest
in these receivables to the ICP or the bank,
subject to certain conditions, up w0 a
maximum of $125,000,000 of undivided
ownership interests outstanding from time
to time.

SA Funding Corp. retains the receivables
it purchases from the Originators, except
those as to which interests are sold by it
to the ICP or the bank. Sales of accounts
receivable by the Originators to SA Fund-
ing Corp. and sales of interests from
SA Funding Corp. to the ICP and the

ank have been structured as “true sales”
bank have b d
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under applicable laws, and the assets of
SA Funding Corp. are not available to pay
any creditors of the Company or of its
subsidiaries or affiliates. These transactions
are accounted for as sales of receivables
under the provisions of SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishment
of Liabilities.”

In order to secure the performance of their
obligations under the Receivables Facility,
SA Funding Corp. and the Originators
granted a first priority security interest to
the bank, as agent, in certain collateral,
including accounts receivable owned by
them and proceeds and collections of
those receivables. The ICP and the bank
have no recourse to the Company's, the
Originators’ or SA Funding Corp.’s other
assets for any losses resulting from the
financial inability of customers to pay
amounts due on the receivables when they
become due. As long as a termination
event with respect to the Receivables Facil-
ity has not occurred, the Originators ser-
vice, administer and collect the receivables
under the Receivables Facility as agent on
behalf of SA Funding Corp., the ICP and
the bank. Prior to a termination event
under the Receivables Facility, collections
of receivables not otherwise required to be
paid to the ICP or the bank are used by SA
Funding Corp. to purchase new eligible
receivables from the Originators. The
Company has undertaken to cause the
Originators to perform their obligations

under the Receivables Facility.

The scheduled expiration date for the
Receivables Facility is December 7, 2004,
although the bank's commitment to make
purchases of receivables interests from SA
Funding Corp. expires on December 7,
2002 and is subject to annual renewal with
the agreement of the parties. Under certain
limited circumstances, none of which had
occurred at December 31, 2001, the ICP
and the bank can terminate purchases of

interests in eligible accounts receivable
prior to these dates. The events that could
result in termination include a down-
grading by cither of the two leading credit
rating agencies of the Companys long-
term senior unsecured debt to BB- or
below by Standard & Poor’s Rating
Services (“Standard & Poor’s”) or Ba3 or
below by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.
(“Moody’s”). The Receivables Facility pro-
vides for the payment from time to time
of program fees (currently 0.375% per
annum) on the receivables interests sold by
SA Funding Corp. and commitment fees
(currenty 0.325% per annum) on the
tinused portion of the $125,000,000
Receivables Facility.

In December 2001, the Originators sold
approximately $176,900,000 of their eli-
gible U.S. accounts receivable to SA Fund-
ing Corp. SA Funding Corp. in turn sold
an undivided ownership interest in
$95,600,000 of such receivables under
the Recetvables Facility, and this amount
has been removed from the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet. This amount
was used to pay down certain of the
Companys outstanding  borrowings.
SA Funding Corp. retained the remaining
$81,300,000 of receivables that it acquired
from the Originators. These retained
receivables at December 31, 2001 are
included in notes and accounts receivable
on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet. The carrying amount of the retained
receivables approximates fair value because
of the relatively short-term nature of the
receivables. The costs associated with the
Receivables Facility are included in other
income (expense), net, in the Company’s
consolidated statement of earnings for the
year ended December 31, 2001. These
costs primarily relate to the loss on the sale
of the interests in receivables to the ICP or

~ the bank, which was approximately

$75,000, and program and commitment
fees and other associated costs, which were

approximately $343,000.




Outstanding Indebtedness

At December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, the Company’s total debt outstanding consisted of the amounts set forth on the following

table (amounts in thousands of dollars):

December 31,
2001 2000
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt:
364-Day Revolving Credit Agreements $ — % 127,885
Other short-term borrowings 135,548 162,543
Current portion of long-term debt 1,943 1,418
Total current.debt 137,491 291,846
Long-term debt, less current portion: ~
Revolving Credit Agreement due March 2003 7,539 456,263
5.625% Euro Notes due July 2006, less discount of $844 and '
$1,056 in 2001 and 2000, respectively 175,666 185,145
8.75% Senior Notes due July 2008, less discount of $3,999 296,001 —
6.95% Senior Notes due May 2009, less discount of $1,736 and
$1,909 in'2001 and 2000, respectively 298,264 298,091
Other 10,641 4,954
Total long-term debt, less current portion 788,111 944,453
Total debt $925,602 $1,236,299

During 2001, the Company paid down
$154,355,000 of its current debt and
$156,342,000 of its long-term debt.
These repayments and the financing trans-
actions discussed below permitted the
Company to eliminate all borrowings
under the Company’s 364-day revolving
credit agreements, pay down all but
$7,539,000 of the amounts outstanding
under the revolving credit agreement due
March 30, 2003 (the “2003 Facility”), and
reduced amounts due under various short-
term lines of credit maintained by various
of its subsidiaries. These payments were
made from operating cash flows, the net
proceeds of the 8.75% Senior Notes and
the sale of eligible receivables under the

Receivables Facility. The issuance of the |

8.75% Senior Notes also lengthened the

Company’s average debt maturities.

Substantially all of the Company’s short-
term borrowings of $135,548,000 at
December 31, 2001 were outstanding
under lines of credit available to various of
-the Company’s U.S. and foreign sub-
sidiaries. Amounts available under these
credic lines as of December 31, 2001
were approximately $326,000,000 of
which approximately $190,000,000 were
unused.

At December 31, 2001, the Company
had available committed and uncommit-
ted lines of credit of approximately
$1,046,000,000 of which approximately
$903,000,000 was unused. Such credit
lines include amounts available under
the 364-Day Facility, the 2003 Facility and
the other lines of credit available to the
Company’s subsidiaries.

The 2003 Facility, which is a muld-year
$525,000,000 credit facility, and a
364-day $194,375,000 revolving credit
facility that expires on March 22, 2002
(the “364-Day Facility”) are the Com-
pany’s principal revolving credit facilities.
The borrowings of $127,885,000 shown
in the table above under the caption
“364-Day Revolving Credit Agreements”
at December 31, 2000 were borrowings
under a previous 364-day revolving credit
facility that the Company replaced with
the 364-Day Facility on March 23, 2001.
The Company had not udlized the 364-
Day Facility as of December 31, 2001.

The Company believes that it is not nec-
essary to renew or replace the 364-Day

Facility when it expires. Therefore, the’

Company does not plan to renew this
credit facility or to replace it with another

facility when it expires. The Company
currently expects to replace the 2003
Facility prior to its expiration. However,
the Company currently believes that the
replacement of this credit facility is not
required to enable the Company to
meet its currently anticipated liquidity
requiremernts.

The 364-Day Facility and the 2003 Facil-
ity provide that the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries may borrow for various
purposes, including the refinancing of
existing debt, the provision of working
capital and other general corporate needs,
including acquisitions, repurchases of the
Company’s outstanding common and pre-
ferred stock and capital expenditures.

Amounts repaid under these credit facili-
ties may be re-borrowed from time to
time prior to the expiration or earlier ter-
mination of the facilities. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2001, facility fees were payable at
the rates of 0.125% per annum under the
2003 Facility and 0.300% per annum
under the 364-Day Facility on the total
amounts available under each of these
credit facilities.
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The obligations under these credit facili-
ties bear interest at floating rates. The
floating rates are generally determined by
adding the applicable borrowing margin
to the interbank rate for the relevant
currency and time period. The weighted
average interest rate for outstanding bor-
rowings under the 2003 Facility and the
Company’s 364-day facilities was approxi-
mately 4.2% at December 31, 2001 and
7.0% at December 31, 2000.

The 2003 Facility and the 364-Day Facil-
ity provide for changes in borrowing mar-
gins based on the Company’s long-term
senior unsecured debt ratings and, in

addition, with respect to the 2003 Faciliry,

certain financial criteria. The 2003 Facility
and 364-Day Facility, the Euro Notes, the
8.75% Senior Notes and the 6.95%
Senior Notes impose limitations on the
operations of the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries. These limitations include,
depending upon the debt in question,
financial covenants relating to interest cov-
erage and debt leverage as well as restric-
tions on the incurrence of additional
indebtedness, the creation of liens, sale and
leaseback transactions, mergers and acqui-
sitions and certain dispositions of assets.
The Company and its subsidiaries were in
compliance with these requirements as of
December 31, 2001.

The Company’s cost of capital and ability
to obtain external financing may be
affected by its debe ratings, which are peri-
odically reviewed by the credit rating agen-
cies. The Company’s long-term senior
unsecured debt is currendy rated Baa3
{negative outlook) by Moodys and BBB
(stable outlook) by Standard & Poor’s.
These ratings are among the ratings
assigned by each of these organizations
for investment grade long-term senior
unsecured debt. A security rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold secu-
rities and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the rating orga-
nization. Each rating should be evaluated
independently of any other rating.

The following table summarizes the Company’s material contractual cash obligations at December 31, 2001, relating to corporate finance
requiring cash outlays in 2002 and future years (amounts in thousands of dollars):

Payments Due by Period
Tortal 2002 2003-2004  2005-2006 Thereafter
Short-term borrowings $ 135,548 $ 135,548 — —  $ —
Current portion of long-term debt 1,943 1,943 — — —_
Long-term debt, exclusive of debt discounts 794,690 — 11,422 179,624 603,644
Total debt 932,181 137,491 11,422 179,624 603,644
Seties A convertible preferred stocl_<(1> 2,254,153 54,646 109,292 109,292 1,980,923
Operating leases 71,560 20,925 27,274 13,943 9,418
Total contractual cash obligaticns $3,257,894 $ 213,062 $ 147,988 § 302,859 $2,593,985

(DAssumes dividends are declared and paid each quarter until March 31, 2018, based on shares outstanding at December 31, 2001.

In addition to the obligadon to pay the
principal amount of the debt obligations
discussed above, the Company is obligated
under the terms of various leases covering
many of the facilicles that it occupies,
substantially all of which are accounted for
as operating leases. The contractual lease
obligations listed in the table above repre-
sent estimated future minimum annual
rental commitments under noncancelable
real property leases as of December 31,
2001. The long-term debt shown in the
above table excludes unamortized bond
discounts as of December 31, 2001 and
therefore represents the principal amount
of such debr required to be repaid in each
period. The Series A convertible preferred
stock in the table above is subject to
mandatory redemption on March 31,
2018 at $50 per share, plus any accrued
and unpaid dividends, to the extent these
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shares remain outwstanding. These shares
receive a cash dividend, as declared by
the Board of Directors, at an annual rate
of $2.00 per share, payable quarterly in
arrears, until mandatory redemption on
March 31, 2018. See below under “Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock” for further

discussion.
Derivative Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2001 and December 31,
2000 the Company was party to foreign
currency forward contracts which did not
have a significant impact on the Com-
panys liquidity. For further discussion
about these contracts and other financial
instruments, see below under “Other
Matters—Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk.”

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company’s Series A preferred stock is
listed on the New York Stock Exchange
and is convertible at any time into approx-
imately 0.885 share of common stock for
each share of preferred stock. These shares
vote with the common stock on an as-
converted basis and receive a cash divi-
dend, as declared by the Board of Direc-
tors, at an annual rate of $2.00 per share,
payable quarterly in arrears. Subject to
conditions (which had not been met as of
December 31, 2001) set forth in the Com-
pany’s Certificate of Incorporation, as
amended, the Series A preferred stock is
redeemable at the option of the Company.
Under the Company’s Certificate of Incor-
poration, as amended, the Series A pre-
ferred stock is redeemable at the option of
the Company on or after March 31, 2003




without regard to these conditions. The
Series A preferred stock is also subject to
mandatory redemption on March 31,
2018 at $50 per share, plus any accrued
and unpaid dividends, to the extent these
shares remain outstanding. Because it is
subject to mandatory redemption, the
Series A convertible preferred stock is clas-
sified outside of the shareholders’ equity
section of the consolidated balance sheets.
At its date of issuance, the fair value of the

Series A preferred stock exceeded irs

mandatory redemption amount primarily
due to the common stock conversion fea-
ture. Accordingly, the book value of the
Series A preferred stock is reflected in the
consolidared balance sheets ar its manda-
tory redemption value.

Shareholders’ Equity

The Company’s shareholders’ equity was
$850,152,000 at December 31, 2001,
$753,129,000 at December 31, 2000 and
$551,030,000 at December 31, 1999,
Shareholders’ equity increased in 2001
and 2000 due to the Company’s net earn-
ings of $156,697,000 and $225,319,000,
and the excess of book value over repur-
chase price recognized in connection
with the preferred stock repurchases of
$7,456,000 and $45,283,000, which were
partially offset by preferred stock divi-
dends of $55,024,000 and $64,266,000,
and by additional foreign currency transla-
tion adjustments of $19,931,000 and
$16,258,000, respectively, in such years.

Other Matters

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk
from changes in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates, which may
adversely affect its results of operations and
financial condition. The Company seeks
to minimize these risks through regular
operating and financing activities and,
when deemed appropriate, through the
use of derivative financial instruments.
The Company does not purchase, hold or

sell derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes.

Interest Rates

The fair value of the Company’s fixed rate
debt varies with changes in interest rates.
Generally, the fair value of fixed rate debt
will increase as interest rates fall and
decrease as interest rates rise. At Decem-
ber 31, 2001, the carrying value of the
Company’s total debt was $925,602,000
of which $782,517,000 was fixed rate
debt. At December 31, 2000, the carrying
value of the Company’s total debt was
$1,236,299,000 of which $489,607,000
was fixed rare debr. The estimated fair
value of the Company's total debt, which
includes the cost of replacing the Com-
pany’s fixed rate debt with borrowings at
current market rates, was approximately
$889,434,000 at December 31, 2001
compared to $1,159,250,000 at Decem-
ber 31, 2000. A hypothetical 10%
decrease in interest rates would result in an
increase in the fair value of the total debt
balance at December 31, 2001 of approx-
imately $27,100,000.

From tme to time, the Company uses
interest rate swaps and interest rate collars
to manage its exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates. At December 31, 2001, the
Company was not party to any interest
rate swaps or interest rate collar agree-
ments. At December 31, 2000, the Com-
pany had no such agreements except for
an interest rate collar agreement with an
aggregate notional amount of approxi-
mately $8,000,000 related w a foreign
subsidiary’s floating rate indebtedness,
which martured in June 2001.

Foreign Exchange Rates

The Company uses interest rate and cur-
rency swaps from time to- time to limit
foreign exchange exposure and limit or
adjust interest rate exposure by swapping
cerrain borrowings in U.S. dollars for
borrowings denominated in foreign cur-
rencies. At December 31, 2001 and
December 31, 2000, the Company had

no interest rate and currency swap agree-
ments outstanding,

The Company uses foreign currency for-
ward contracts to fix the amount payable
on cerrain transactions denominated in
foreign currencies. The terms of such
instruments are generally twelve months
or less. At December 31, 2001 and
December 31, 2000, the Company had
foreign currency forward contracts with an
aggregate notional amount of approxi-
mately $266,902,000 and $13,800,000,
respectively. The estimated fair value of
these contracts, which represents the esti-
mated net payment that would be received -
by the Company in the event of ter-
mination of these contracts based on the
then current foreign exchange rates, was
approximately $313,000 at Decem-
ber 31, 2001 compared to $253,000 at
December 31, 2000. A hypothetical 10%
adverse change in foreign exchange
rates at December 31, 2001 would have
caused the Company to pay approxi-
mately $26,231,000 to terminate these

contracts.

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries had
outstanding debt of approximately
$321,690,000 and $511,859,000 at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. Such debt is generally denominated
in the functional currency of the borrow-
ing subsidiary. The Company believes that
this enables it to better match operating
cash flows with debt service requirements
and to better mawch foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities, thereby
reducing its need to enter into foreign
exchange contracts.

Commodities
The Company uses various commodity

raw material and energy products in con-
junction with its manufacturing process.

_ Generally, the Company acquires such

components at market prices and does not
use financial instruments to hedge com-
modity prices. As a result, the Company is
exposed to market risks related to changes
in commodity prices related to these
components.
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Cryovac Transaction

On March 31, 1998, the Company
completed a multi-step transaction (the
“Cryovac Transaction”), which brought
the Cryovac packaging business and the
former Sealed Air Corporation (“old
Sealed Air”) under the common owner-
ship of the Company. These businesses
operate as subsidiaries of the Company,
and the Company acts as a holding com-
pany. As part of that transaction, the Cry-
ovac packaging business, held by various
direct and indirect subsidiaries of the
Company, was separated from the remain-
ing businesses of the Company. Such
remaining businesses were then con-
tributed to a company now known as
W. R. Grace & Co. (“New Grace”), whose
shares were distributed to the Company's
stockholders. As a result, New Grace
became a separate publicly owned com-
pany. The Company recapitalized its out-
standing shares of common stock into a
new common stock and a new convertible
preferred stock. A subsidiary of the Com-
pany then merged into old Sealed Air,
which changed its name to Sealed Air Cor-
poration (US). The agreements pursuant
to which the Cryovac Transaction was
carried out are referred to below as the
“Transaction Agreements.”

Contingencies Related to the Cryovac
Transaction

In connection with the Cryovac Transac-
tion, New Grace and its subsidiaries
retained all liabilities arising out of their
operations before the Cryovac Transac-
tion, whether accruing or occurring before
or after the Cryovac Transaction, other
than liabilities arising from or relating to
Cryovac’s operations. The liabilities
retained by New Grace include, among
others, liabilities relating to asbestos-
containing products previously manufac-
tured or sold by New Grace’s subsidiaries
prior to the Cryovac Transaction, includ-
ing its primary U.S. operating subsidiary,
W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which has
operated for decades and has been a sub-
sidiary of New Grace since the Cryovac
Transaction. The Transaction Agreements
provided that, should any claimant seek to
hold the Company, including any of its
subsidiaries, responsible for liabilities of
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New Grace or its subsidiaries, including
such ashestos-related liabilities, New Grace
and its subsidiaries would indemnify and
defend the Company.

Since the beginning of 2000, the Com-
pany has been served with a number of
lawsuits alleging that, as a result of the
Cryovac Transaction, the Company is
responsible for alleged asbestos liabilities of
New Grace and its subsidiaries, certain of
which were also named as co-defendants
in some of these acrions. These actions
include several purported class actions and
a number of personal injury lawsuits.
Some plaintiffs seek damages for personal
injury or wrongful death while others seek
medical monitoring, environmental reme-
diation or remedies related to an attic insu-
lation product. Neither old Sealed Air nor
Cryovac ever produced or sold any of the
asbestos-containing materials that are the
subjects of these cases. None of these cases
has been resolved through judgment, set-
tement or otherwise. All such cases have
been stayed in connection with New
Grace’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceed-
ing discussed below.

While the allegations in these actions
directed to the Company vary, these
actions all appear to allege that the transfer
of the Cryovac business as part of the Cry-
ovac Transaction was a fraudulent transfer
or gave rise t successor liaBility. Under a
theory. of successor liability, plaintiffs with
claims against New Grace and its sub-
sidiaries may artempt to hold the Com-
pany liable for liabilities that arose with
respect to activities conducted prior to the
Cryovac Transaction by W. R. Grace &
Co. — Conn., or other New Grace sub-
sidiaries. A transfer would be a fraudulent
transfer if the transferor received less than
reasonably equivalent value and the trans-
feror was insolvent or was rendered insol-
vent by the transfer, was engaged or was
about to engage in a business for which its
assets constitute unreasonably small capi-
tal, or intended to incur or believed that it
would incur debts beyond its ability to pay
as they mature. A transfer may also be
fraudulent if it was made with actual
intent to hinder, delay or defraud credi-
tors. If any transfers in connection with
the Cryovac Transaction were found by a
court to be fraudulent transfers, the

Company could be required to return the
property or its value to the transferor or
could be required to fund certain liabilities
of New Grace or its subsidiaries for the
benefit of their creditors, including
asbestos claimants.

In the Joint Proxy Statement furnished to
their respective stockholders in connection
with the Cryovac Transaction, both Sealed
Air and Grace stated that it was their belief
that New Grace and its subsidiaries were
adequately capitalized and would be ade-
quately capitalized after the Cryovac
Transaction and that none of the transfers
contemplated to occur in the Cryovac
Transaction would be a fraudulent trans-
fer. They also stated their belief that the
Cryovac Transaction complied with other
relevant laws. However, if a court applying
the relevant legal standards reached con-
clusions adverse to the Company, such
determination could have a materially
adverse effect on the Company's consoli-
dated results of operations and financial
position.

On April 2, 2001, New Grace and certain
of its subsidiaries filed a petition for reor-
ganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court in the District of Delaware. New
Grace stated that the filing was made in
response to a sharply increasing number of
asbestos claims since 1999.

In connection with its Chapter 11 filing,
New Grace filed an application with the
Bankruptcy Court seeking to stay, among
others, all actions brought against the
Company related to alleged asbestos liabil-
ities of New Grace and its subsidiaries or
alleging fraudulent transfer claims. The
court issued an order dated May 3, 2001,
which was modified on January 22, 2002,
under which all such filed or pending
actions against the Company were stayed
and all such future actions are stayed upon
filing and service on the Company. No
further proceedings involving the Com-
pany can occur in the actions that have
been stayed except upon further order of
the Bankruptcy Court. The Company
believes that New Grace's filing for reorga—
nization may provide a single forum in
which all such claims might be resolved.




Committees appointed in New Grace’s
bankruptcy case have sought the courts
permission to pursue fraudulent transfer
claims against the Company and against
Fresenius, as discussed below. The claims
against Fresenius are based upon a
1996 transaction between Fresenius and
W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. Fresenius is
not affiliated with the Company. In
February 2002, the court indicated that
the issues of the solvency of Grace fol-
lowing the Fresenius transaction and the
solvency of New Grace following the
Cryovac Transaction and whether the
transferor. received reasonably equivalent
value in such transactions would be tried
on behalf of all creditors of New Grace
starting on September 30, 2002 and
designated a firm to prosecute that action.
The Company believes that the Cryovac
Transaction was not a fraudulent transfer
and the Company intends to defend its
interests. vigorously.

In January 2002, the Company filed a
declaratory judgment action against Frese-
nius Medical Care Holdings, Inc,, its par-
ent, Fresenius AG, a German company,
and certain of its affiliates (collectively,
“Fresenius”) in New York State court ask-
ing the court to resolve a contract dispute
between the parties. Fresenius contends
that the Company is obligated to indem-
nify Fresenius for certain liabilities that
Fresenius may incur as a result of the 1996
Fresenius transaction mentioned above.
Fresenius's contention is based on its inter-
pretation of the agreements between

Fresenius and such New Grace subsidiary -

in connection with the 1996 Fresenius
transaction. In February 2002, Fresenius
announced that it had accrued a charge of
$172,000,000 for such potential liabilities,
which include pre-transaction tax liabili-
ties of New Grace and the costs of defense
of litigation arising from New Grace's
Chapter 11 filing. The Company believes
that it is not responsible to indemnify Fre-
senius under the 1996 agreements and has
filed the action in order to proceed to a res-
olution of Fresenius's claims. However, if
the court were to rule against the Com-
pany and if Fresenius were to incur a mate-
rial liability subject to an indemnification

obligation, then the outcome of the action
could have a material adverse effect on the
Company's consolidated results of opera-
tions and financial position. The action is
in its early stages, and Fresenius has not yet
responded to the complaint.

In view of New Grace's Chapter 11 filing,
the Company may receive additional
claims asserting that the Company is
liable for obligations that New Grace had
agreed to retain in the Cryovac Transac-
tion and for which the Company may be
contingenty liable. To date, no material
additional claims have been asserted or
threatened against the Company.

Under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America,
an accrual for a contingent liability is
appropriate only if it is probable that a lia-
bility has been incurred and if the amount
of the liability can be reasonably estimated.
The Company does not believe that these
conditions have been met with respect to
the claims against the Company related o
the alleged asbestos liabilities, the fraudu-
lent transfer claims or the Fresenius
indemnification matter, all of which are
described above. Accordingly, the Com-
pany has not made any accrual for these
matters as of December 31, 2001.

Final determinations and accountings
under the Transaction Agreements with
respect to matters pertaining to the Cry-
ovac Transaction had not been completed
at the time of New Grace's Chapter 11 fil-
ing. The Company expects to file a claim
in the bankruptcy proceeding that will
include all of the costs and liabilities that it
has incurred or may incur that New Grace
agreed to retain or that are subject to
indemnification by New Grace under the
Transaction Agreements, less certain
amounts that the Company is responsible
for under the Transaction Agreements.
Costs and liabilities for which the Com-
pany intends to seek indemnification by
New Grace will include certain defense
costs related to asbestos and fraudulent
transfer litigation and the Fresenius claims,
the guaranteed debt paid by the Company
described under “Costs and Margins”

above, any recovery by the creditors of
New Grace if the Company were not suc-
cessful in defending against the fraudulent
transfer or asbestos claims described above,
any recovery by Fresenius if the Company
were held liable to indemnify Fresenius
and Fresenius were to incur an indemnifi-
able liability, or any of the other potential
claims against the Company mentioned
above. The Company expects that it
claim will be as an unsecured. creditor of
New Grace. It is not currently possible to
determine the amount of the Company's
claim against New Grace or the amount of
the Company's recovery, if any, in the
bankruptey proceeding.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to loss contin-
gencies resulting from environmental laws
and regulations, and it accrues for antici-
pated costs associated with investigatory
and remediation efforts when an assess-
ment has indicated that a loss is probable
and can be reasonably estimated. These
accruals do not take into account any dis-
counting for the time value of money and
are not reduced by potential insurance
recoveries, if any. Environmental liabilities
are reassessed whenever circumstances
become better defined and/or remediation
efforts and their costs can be better esti-
mated. These liabilities are evaluated peri-
odically based on available information,
including the progress of remedial investi-
gations at each site, the current status of
discussions with regulatory authorities
regarding the methods and extent of reme-
diation and the apportionment of costs
among potentially responsible parties. As
some of these issues are decided (the out-
comes of which are subject to uncertain-
ties) and/or new sites are assessed and costs
can be reasonably estimated, the Com-
pany adjusts the recorded accruals, as nec-
essary. The Company believes that such
exposures are not material to the Com-
pany’s consolidated results of operations
and financial position. The Company
believes that it has adequately reserved for
all probable and estimable environmental
exposures.
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Euro Conversion

The Companys subsidiaries within the
twelve participating countries of the Euro-
pean Union converted the base currency
of their statutory accounting data to euros
as of January 1, 2002. The effect on the
Company of all strategic and operational
issues related to the euro conversion and
the cost of implementing the euro conver-
sion did not have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial condition, results of operations
or reportable segments.

Recently Issued Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS
No. 141, “Business Combinations”
(“SFAS No. 1417), and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
(“SFAS No. 142”). SFAS No. 141 requires
that the purchase method of accounting
be used for all business combinations initi-
ated after June 30, 2001 as well as all pur-
chase method business combinations
completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS
No. 142 will require that goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
no longer be amortized, but instead be
tested for impairment at least annually in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 142. This new standard also requires
that intangible assets with definite useful
lives be amortized over their respective
estimated useful lives to their estimated
residual values, and reviewed for impair-
ment in accordance with SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
Be Disposed of.”

The Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 141 immediately and adopted
SEAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002.
Any goodwill and any intangible asset
determined to have an indefinite useful life
that were acquired in a purchase business
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combination completed after June 30,
2001 were not amortized, but were evalu-
ated for impairment in accordance with
the appropriate pre-SFAS No. 142
accounting literature. Goodwill and intan-
gible assets acquired in business combina-
tions. completed before July 1, 2001 were
amortized through the end of 2001.

In connection with the transitional
impairment evaluation, SFAS No. 142
requires the Company to perform an
assessment of whether goodwill and other
intangible assets were impaited as of
January 1, 2002. Because of the uncer-
tainty, necessitated by the extensive effort
needed to comply with the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, further evaluation is
needed to complete the transitional good-
will impairment test provisions of SFAS
No. 142. However, the Company believes,
based on its preliminary evaluation, that
adoption of the new standard should not
result in a material transitional impair-
ment charge to the consolidated statement
of earnings. The Company is required by
this standard to complete the assessment
process no later than June 30, 2002 and
to record any impairment loss as soon as
possible but no later than the end of
2002. Transidonal impairment losses, if
any, will be recognized as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle
in the Company’s statement of earnings.
The Company expects to complete this
process as required.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company
has unamortized goodwill in the amount
of $1,913,000,000 and unamortized
identifiable intangible assets in the amount
of approximately $23,474,000, all of
which will be subject to the transition
provisions of SFAS Nos. 141 and 142.
Amortization expense related to goodwill
was $57,005,000 and $51,776,000 for
years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. Beginning January 1,
2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142,
the Company is no longer recording

amortization expense related to goodwill.
Although goodwill will no longer be sys-
tematically amortized, this standard
requires that periodic reviews be con-
ducted to assess whether or not the carry-
ing amount of goodwill may be impaired.
Such reviews could result in future write-
downs of goodwill which would be
reflected as a charge against operating
income.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 143, “Asset Retirement Obligations”
(“SFAS No. 143”), which provides the
accounting requirements for retirement
obligations associated with tangible long-
lived assets. This statement requires enti-
ties to record the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation in the period
in which it is incurred. The Company
expects to adopt this standard beginning
January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS
No. 143 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, the Company
adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”), which excludes
from the definition of long-lived assets
goodwill and other intangibles that are not
amortized in accordance with SFAS
No. 142. SFAS No. 144 requires that
long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale
be measured at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value less cost to sell,
whether reported in continuing operations
or in discontinued operations. SFAS
No. 144 also expands the reporting of dis-
continued operations to include compo-
nents of an entity that have been or will be
disposed of rather than limiting such dis-
continuance to a segment of a business.
The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not

expected to have a material impact on

the Company’s consolidated financial

statements.




Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made by the Company
in this report and in future oral and
written statements by the Company may
be forward-looking. These statements
include comments as to the Company’s
beliefs and expectations as to future events
and trends affecting the Company’s busi-
ness, its results of operations and its finan-
cial condition. These forward-looking
statements are based upon management's
current expectations concerning future
events and discuss, among other things,
anticipated future performance and future
business plans. Forward-looking state-
ments are identified by such words and
phrases as “expects,” “intends,” “believes,”
“will continue,” “plans to,” “could be,”
“estimates” and similar expressions.
Forward-looking statements are necessar-
ily subject to risks and uncertainties,

many of which are outside the control '

of the Company, which could cause
actual results to differ materially from
such statements.

The Company recognizes that it is subject
to a number of risks and uncertainties that
may affect the future performance of the
Company, such as: economic, political,
business and market conditions in the geo-
graphic areas in which it conducts busi-
ness; acts of war or terrorism; changes in
the value of foreign currencies against the
U.S. dollar; changes in interest rates, credit
availability and ratings; the Company’s
access to financing and other sources of
capital; the success of the Company’s key
information systems projects; factors
affecting the customers, industries and
markets that use the Company’s packaging
materials and systems; competitive factors;
the Companys development and com-
mercialization of successtul new products;
the Company’s accomplishments in enter-
ing new markets and acquiring and inte-
grating new businesses; the magnitude and
timing of its capital expenditures; the
Company’s inventory management profi-
ciency; raw material availability and pric-
ing; production capacity; changes in
energy-related expenses; changes in the

-Company’s relationships with customers

and suppliers; the effect on the Company
of new accounting pronouncements,
including the potential impairment of
goodwill; the effect on the Company of
the bankruptcy filing by New Grace and
its subsidiaries; the outcome of litigation
relating to the Cryovac Transaction and
the Company’s responsibility, if any, for
the asbestos and other claims asserted
against it, including claims involving
Fresenius, and other New Grace-related
matters; other legal proceedings and
claims (including environmental matters)
involving the Company; the effects of
foot-and-mouth, BSE (“mad-cow”) and
other diseases on the Company’s food
packaging customers; changes in domestic
or foreign laws or regulations, or govern-
mental or agency actions.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share data)

2001 2000 1999

Net sales $3,067,482 $3,067,714 $2,931,853
Cost of sales 2,077,195 2,032,410 1,903,131

Gross profit 990,287 1,035,304 1,028,722
Marketing, administrative and development expenses 513,086 516,312 527,126
Goodwill amortization 57,005 51,776 49,404
Restructuring and other charges (credits) 32,805 (1,247) —

Operating profit 387,391 468,463 452,192
Interest expense (76,398) (64,513) (58,126)
Other income (expense), net (13,541) 9,479 1,587

Earnings before income taxes 297,452 413,429 395,653
Income taxes 140,755 188,110 184,192

Net earnings $ 156,697 $ 225,319 $ 211,461
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of

Series A convertible preferred stock 7,456 45,283 1,568
Less: Series A convertible preferred stock dividends 55,024 64,266 71,422

Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders - $ 109,129 $ 206,336 : $ 141,607
Earnings per common share:

Basic $ 1.30 $ 2.47 $ 1.69

Diluted $ 1.22 $ 1.93 $ 1.68

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2001 and 2000
(In thousands of dollars, except share data)

2001 2000
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,805 $ 11,229
Notes and accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful
accounts of $25,424 in 2001 and $21,171 in 2000 418,161 548,719
Tnventories 288,570 309,116
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10,172 8,136
Deferred income taxes 45,644 42,664
Total current assets 776,352 919,864
Property and equipment, net 1,050,438 1,032,141
Goodwill, less accumulated amortization of $191,369 in 2001
and $135,240 in 2000 1,913,000 1,959,909
Deferred income taxes 5,686 7,367
" Other assets 162,433 171,601
Total Assets $3,907,909 $4,090,882
Liabilities, Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Equity .
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings $ 135,548 $ 290,428
Current portion of long-term debt 1,943 1,418
Accounts payable 135,533 140,532
Deferred income taxes 5,097 4,818
Other current liabilities 348,859 280,156
Tortal current liabilities 626,980 717,352 -
Long-term debt, less current portion 788,111 944,453
Deferred income taxes 210,830 210,581
Other liabilities 65,682 72,994
Total Liabilities 1,691,603 '1,945,380
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Authorized 50,000,000 preferred shares. Series A convertible preferred
stock, $50.00 per share redemption value, authorized 27,365,594 shares
in 2001 and 28,289,714 shares in 2000, outstanding 27,323,084 shares
in 2001 and 27,847,462 shares in 2000, mandatory redemption in 2018 1,366,154 1,392,373
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.10 par value per share. Authorized 400,000,000 shares; :
issued 84,494,504 shares in 2001 and 84,352,492 shares in 2000 8,449 . 8,435
Additional paid-in capital 699,088 689,084
Retained earnings 394,799 293,126
Accumulated translation adjustment (207,710) (187,779)
894,626 802,866
Less: Deferred compensation 10,973 17,073
Less: Cost of treasury common stock, 717,615 shares in 2001 and :
706,265 shares in 2000 31,133 31,143
Less: Unrecognized loss on derivative instruments 131 —
Less: Minimum pension liability 2,237 1,521
Total Shareholders’ Equity 850,152 753,129
Total Liabilities, Preferred Stock and Shareholders” Equity $3,907,909 $4,090,882

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

31




SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Equity

Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(In thousands of dollars)
Other

Comprehensive Income

Unrecognized

Additional Retained Treasury  Accumulated  Loss on Minimum
Common Paid-In Earnings Deferred Common Translation  Derivative Pension
Stock Capital (Deficity ~ Compensation Stock Adjustment  Instruments  Liability Total

Balance at

December 31, 1998 $§ 8380 $610505 $ (7.966) $ (28,683) $ (17,234) $(124,843) $ — $ (3,114) $437,045
Effect of contingent stock

transactions, net 25 12,718 — 4,172 (16) — — - 16,899
Shares issued for non-cash

compensation 1 5,107 — — 7,787 — — — 12,895
Exercise of stock options 6 2,023 — — — — — — 2,029
Purchase of preferred stock — 1,568 — — — — —_ — 1,568
Conversion of preferred stock 1 309 — — — — — — 310
Purchase of common stock — — — — (14,189) — — — (14,189)
FAS 87 pension adjustment — — — — — — — 1,112 1,112
Foreign currency translation — — — — — (46,678) — — (46,678)
Net earnings — — 211,461 — — — — — 211,461
Dividends on preferred stock — — (71,422) — — — — — (71,422)
Balance at

December 31, 1999 8,413 632,230 132,073 (24,511) (23,652)  (171,521) — (2,002) 551,030
Effect of contingent stock

transactions, net 19 8,607 — 7,438 (23) — — — 16,041
Shares issued for non-cash

compensation 1 2,049 —_ — 15,405 — — — 17,455
Exercise of stock options 2 858 — — — — — — 860
Purchase of preferred stock — 45,283 — — — — — — 45,283
Conversion of preferred stock — 57 — — — — — — 57
Purchase of common stock — —_— — — (22,873) — —_ — (22,873)
FAS 87 pension adjustment — — — — — — — 481 481
Foreign currency translation — — — — — (16,258) —_ —_— (16,258)
Net earnings — — 225,319 — — — — — 225319
Dividends on preferred stock — - (64,266) — — — — — (64,266)
Balance at

December 31, 2000 8,435 689,084 293,126 (17,073) (31,143) (187,779) — (1,521 753,129
Effect of contingent stock

transactions, net 11 1,664 — 6,100 10 —_ - — 7,785
Shares issued for non-cash

compensation 1 374 — — - — — — 375
Exercise of stock options 2 502 — — — — — — 504
Purchase of preferred stock — 7,456 — — — — — — 7,456
Conversion of preferred stock — 8 — — — — — — 8
FAS 87 pension adjustment — — — — — — — (716) (716)
Foreign currency translation — — —_ — —_ (19,931) — — (19,931)
Net change in unrecognized loss

on derivative instruments — . — — — — — (131) — (131)
Net earnings — — 156,697 — — — — — 156,697
Dividends on preferred stock — — (55,024) — _— — — — (55,024)
Balance at

December 31, 2001 $ 8449 $699,088 $394799 $ (10,973) $ (31,133) $(207,710) $  (131) $ (2,237) $850,152

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows-
Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(In thousands of dollars)

2001 2000 1999

Cash flows from operating activities: :
Net earnings ' $ 156,697 $ 225,319 $ 211,461
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 141,665 140,795 146,549
Goodwill and other amortization ’ 78,951 78,846 76,850
Amortization of bond discount 561 318 169
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other charges. 7,287 (1,247) —
Deferred tax provisions (9,083) 20,361 19,358
Net (gain) loss on disposals of property and equipment (237) 594 . 149
Amounts sold under the Receivables Facility 95,600 — —_

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of
businesses acquired:

Notes and accounts receivable, net of sale _ 27,089 (41,316) (36,439)'
Inventories : 16,531 (54,710) 21,229
Other current assets (1,718) 3,432 670
Other assets (3,918) - (12,645) 2,041
Accounts payable (5,656) (17,109) (1,039)
Income taxes payable ' 35,711 966 (16,491)
) Other current liabilities 40,279 (8,632) 6,610
’ Other liabilities - (1,066) (5,539) {763)
Net cash provided by operating activities 578,693 329,413 430,354
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures for property and equipment (146,277) (114,197) (75,080)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment - 4,352 2,749 3,606
Businesses acquired in purchase transactions, net of cash
acquired (36,007) - (237,541) (25,811)
Net cash used in investing activities (177,932) (348,989) (97,285)
Cash flows from financing activities: '
Proceeds from long-term debt - 482,351 661,048 572,831
Payment of long-term debt . (631,502) (369,661) (903,941)
Payment of senior debt issuance costs (2,241) —_ (3,412)
Net (payments of ) proceeds from short-term borrowings (163,756) 129,482 74,848
Purchases of treasury common stock — (22,873) (14,189)
Purchases of preferred stock (18,754) (323,948) (27,552)
Dividends paid on preferred stock (69,185) (67,880) (71,616)
Proceeds from stock option exercises and other 504 1,503 5,848
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (402,583) 7,671 (367,183)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 4,398 9,462 2,800
Cash and cash equivalents:
Net change during the period 2,576 (2,443) (31,314)
Balance, beginning of period . 11,229 13,672 44,986
Balance, end of period $ 13,805 $ 11,229 $ 13,672

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES ,
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(In thousands of dollars)

2001 2000 1999
Net earnings $ 156,697 $225,319 $ 211,461
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability, net of an income tax (benefit) charge of
$(477), $326 and $1,020, in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively (716) 481 1,112
Unrecognized loss on derivative instruments, net of income tax benefit
of $79 in 2001 ' (131) — —
Foteign currency translation adjustments (19,931) (16,258) (46,678)
Comprehensive income $ 135,919 $ 209,542 $ 165,895

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of dollars, except share and per share data)

N @ﬂ:@ ﬂ General

Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”),
operating through its subsidiaries, is
engaged in the manufacture and sale of a
wide range of food, protective and spe-

cialty packaging products.

The Company conducts substantially all
of its business through two direct wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Cryovac, Inc. and
Sealed Air Corporation (US). These two
subsidiaries directly and indirectly own
substantially all of the assets of the business
and conduct operations themselves and

through subsidiaries around the globe.
This corporate structure was established
in connection with the Cryovac Transac-
tion. See Note 18 for a description of the
Cryovac Transaction and certain related
terms used in these notes.

N olE & Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Company and
its subsidiaries. All significant intercom-
pany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements
and related disclosures in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the dis-
closure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and
revenue and expenses during the period
reported. These estimates include assessing
the collectability of accounts receivable,
the use and recoverability of inventory, the
realization of deferred tax assets, useful
lives of tangible and intangible assets and
accruals for commitments and contingen-
cies, among others. Estimates and
assumptions are reviewed periodically and
the effects of revisions are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements in the

period they are determined to be neces-
sary. Actual results could differ from these

estimates.
Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized upon shipment of
goods, including systems, to customers.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Investments with original maturities of
three months or less are considered to be
cash equivalents. The Company’s policy is
to invest cash in excess of short-term oper-
ating and debt service requirements in
such cash equivalents. These instruments

are stated at cost, which approximates’

market value because of the short maturity
of the instruments.

Financial Instruments

The Company has limited involvement
with derivative financial instruments.
These financial instruments generally
include cross currency swaps, interest rate
swaps, caps and collars and foreign
exchange forward contracts and options
relating to the Company’s borrowing and

trade activities. Such financial instruments
are used to manage the Company’s expo-
sure to fluctuations in interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. The Company
does not purchase, hold or sell derivative
financial instruments for trading or specu-
lative purposes. The Company is exposed
to credit risk if the counterparties to such
transactions are unable to perform their
obligations. However, the Company seeks
to minimize such risk by entering into
transactions with counterparties that are
major financial institutions with high
credit ratings.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards (SFAS) No. 133, “Account-
ing for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” as amended by SFAS
No. 137 and SFAS No. 138 (“SFAS
133”), which require that all derivative
instruments be reported on the balance
sheet at fair value and establish criteria for
designation and effectiveness of transac-
tions entered into for hedging purposes.

Prior to entering into any derivative trans-

action, the Company identifies the spe-
cific financial risk to which the Company

(Continued on following page.)
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is exposed, the appropriate hedging instru-
ment to be used to reduce the risk and the
correlation between the financial risk and
the hedging instrument. Purchase orders
and historical data are used as the basis for
determining the anticipated values of the
transactions to be hedged. The Company
does not enter into derivative transactions
that do not have a high correlation with
the underlying financial risk. The Com-
pany regularly reviews its hedge positions
and the correlation between the transac-
tion risks and the hedging instruments.

The Company accounts for derivative
instruments as hedges of the related
underlying risks if such derivative instru-
ments are designated by the Company as
hedges and are effective as hedges of
recognized assets or liabilities, forecasted
transactions, unrecognized firm com-
mitments or forecasted intercompany
transactions.

Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying
as cash flow hedges are recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss), to the extent
that hedges are effective and undl the
underlying transactions are recognized in
the consolidated statement of earnings at
which time such gains and losses are rec-
ognized in the consolidated statement of
earnings. Gains and losses on qualifying
fair value hedges and the related loss or
gain on the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of earnings.

The Company’s practice is to terminate
derivative transactions if the underlying
asset or liability matures or is sold or ter-
minated, or if the underlying forecasted
transaction is no longer deemed to be
probable of occurring.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 133, the
Company recorded realized and unreal-
ized gains and losses from foreign
exchange hedging instruments (including
cross currency swaps, forwards and
options) differently depending on
whether the instrument qualified for
hedge accounting. Gains and losses on
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those foreign exchange instruments that
qualified as hedges were deferred as part of
the cost basis of the asset or liability being
hedged and were recognized in the con-
solidated statement of earnings in the
same period as the underlying transaction.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses
on instruments that did not qualify for
hedge accounting were recognized cur-
rently in the consolidated statement of
earnings.

The Company recorded the net payments
or receipts from interest rate swaps, caps,
collars and the interest rate component of
cross currency swaps as adjustments to
interest expense on a current basis. If an
interest rate hedging instrument was ter-
minated prior to its maturity date, any
gain or loss would have been amortized
into earnings over the shorter of the origi-
nal term of the derivative instrument and
the remaining term of the underlying
transaction.

Accounts Receivable Securitization

The Company’s two primary U.S. operat-
ing subsidiaries sell eligible U.S. accounts
receivable to an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company that was
formed for the sole purpose of entering
into an accounts receivable securitization
program. This indirect wholly-owned sub-
sidiary in wrn sells an undivided owner-
ship interest in such receivables to a bank
or an issuer of commercial paper adminis-
tered by that bank. The indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary retains the receivables it
purchases from the two operating sub-
sidiaries, except those as to which interests
are sold by it to the issuer of commercial
paper or the bank. The undivided owner-
ship interest amounts sold are removed
from the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets at such time and the proceeds from

. the sale are reflected in cash provided by

operating activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows. ‘The retained
receivables are included in notes and
accounts receivable on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets and the carry-
ing amounts thereof approximate fair

value because of the relatively short-term
nature of the receivables. Costs associated
with the sale of receivables are included in
other income (expense), net, in the Com-
pany’s consolidated statements of earnings.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
or market. The cost of most U.S. invento-
ries is determined on a last-in, first-out
(“LIFQ”) basts, while the cost of other
inventories is determined on a first-in,

first-out (“FIFQO”) basis.
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost,
except for property and equipment that
have been impaired, for which the carry-
ing amount is reduced to the estimated fair
value at the impairment date. Significant
improvements are capitalized; repairs and
maintenance costs that do not extend the
lives of the assets are charged to expense as
incurred. The cost and accumulated
depreciation of assets sold or otherwise dis-
posed are removed from the accounts, and
any resulting gain or loss is recognized
when the assets are disposed.

The cost of property and equipment
is depreciated over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis as follows:
buildings - 20 to 40 years; machinery and
other property and equipment — 3 to
20 years.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line
basis principally over a 40-year period.
Other intangible assets are included in
other assets at cost and consist primarily
of patents, licenses, trademarks and non-
compete agreements. They are amortized
over the shorter of their legal lives or their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis, generally ranging from 3 to 20 years.
Identifiable intangibles, other than good-
will, individually and in the aggregate
comprise less than 5% of the Company’s

consolidated assets.

(Continued on following page.}




Goodwill and intangible assets resulting
from transactions subsequent to June 30,
2001 have been accounted for in accor-
dance with SFAS Nos. 141 and 142. See
Note 19 for further discussion regarding

these new standards.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews the
carrying value of its long-lived assets
including property and equipment, good-
will and other intangible assets for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of such assets may not be fully
recoverable. Impairments are recognized
when the expected future undiscounted
cash flows derived from such assets are less
than their carrying value. For such cases,
losses are recognized for the difference
between the fair value and the carrying
amount. The Company considers various
valuation factors, principally discounted
cash flows, to assess the fair values of long-
lived assets. Asserts to be disposed of by sale
or abandonment, and where management
has the current ability to remove such
assets from operations, are recorded at the
lower of carrying amount or fair value less
cost of disposition. Depreciation for these
assets is suspended during the disposal
period, which is generally less than one
year. Goodwill and intangible assets result-
ing from transactions subsequent to June
30, 2001 have been accounted for in
accordance with SFAS Nos. 141 and 142.
See Note 19 for further discussion regard-
ing these new standards.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company follows the disclosure pro-
visions of SFAS No. 123; “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation.” As permit-
ted by SFAS No. 123, the Company
continues to follow the measurement
provisions of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.”

Foreign Currency Translation

In non-U.S. locations that are not consid-
ered highly inflationary, the balance sheets
are translated at the end of period
exchange rates with translatdon adjust-
ments accumulated in shareholders
equity. Statements of earnings are trans-
fated at the average exchange rates during
the applicable period. Assets and liabilities
of the Company’s operations in countries
with highly inflationary economies are
translated at the end of period exchange
rates, except that certain financial state-
ment amounts are translated at historical
exchange rates. Items included in state-
ments of earnings of the Company’s opet-
ations in countries with highly inflationary
economies are translated at average rates
of exchange prevailing during the period,
except that certain financial statement
amounts are translated at historical
exchange rates.

Income Taxes

The Company and its domestic sub-
sidiaries file 2 consolidated U.S. federal
income tax return. The Company’s non-
U.S. subsidiaries file income tax returns in
their respective local jurisdictions. The
Company provides for U.S. income taxes
on that portion of its foreign subsidiaries’
accumulated earnings that management
believes are not reinvested indefinitely in
their businesses.

Income taxes are accounted for under the
asset and liability method. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to dif-
ferences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and lia-
bilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryfor-
wards. A valuation allowance is provided
when it is more likely than not that all or
some portion of the deferred tax asset will
not be realized. Deferred tax liabilities and
assets at the end of each period are deter-
mined using enacted tax rates.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred and amounted to
$55.779, $54,264 and $56,452 in 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively.

Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is caleu-
lated by dividing net earnings ascribed to
common shareholders by the weighted
average common shares outstanding for
the period. Net earnings ascribed to com-
mon shareholders represents net earnings
plus gains attributable to the repurchase of
preferred stock for an amount below its
book value less preferred stock dividends.
The computation of diluted earnings per
common share is similar, except that the
weighted average common shares out-
standing for the period are adjusted to
reflect the potential issuance of dilutive
shares, and the related change in net earn-
ings ascribed to common sharcholders
that would occur is factored into the

calculation.
Environmental Expenditures

Environmental expenditures that relate to
ongoing business activities are expensed or
capitalized, as appropriate. Expenditures
that relate to an existing condition caused
by past operations, and which do not con-
tribute to current or future net sales, are
expensed. Liabilities are recorded when the
Company determines that environmental
assessments or remedidtions are probable
and that the cost or a range of costs to the
Company associated therewith can be rea-
sonably estimated.

Reclassifications

" Certain prior period amounts have been

reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation.
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N @ﬂ@ %3 Business Segment Information

The Company operates in two reportable
business segments: (i) Food Packaging and
(i) Protective and Specialty Packaging.
The Food Packaging segment comprises
primarily the Company’s Cryovac® food
packaging products. The Protective and
Specialty Packaging segment includes the
aggregation of the Companys protective
packaging products, engineered products
and specialty products, all of which are
used principally for non-food packaging
applications.

The Food Packaging segment includes
flexible marerials and related systems
(shrink film and bag products, laminated
films, and packaging systems marketed
primarily under the Cryovac® trademark
for packaging a broad range of perishable

foods). This segment also includes rigid
packaging and absorbent pads (foam and
solid plastic trays and containers for the
packaging of a wide variety of food prod-
ucts and absorbent pads used for the
packaging of meat, fish and poultry). Net
sales of flexible materials and related
systems were: 2001 — $1,592,142; 2000 —
$1,599,230; and 1999 ~ $1,594,073. Net
sales of rigid packaging and absorbent
pads were: 2001 — $288,139; 2000 —
$238,064; and 1999 — $187,347. Prod-
ucts in this segment are primarily sold to
food processors, distributors and food ser-
vice businesses.

The Protective and Specialty Packaging
segment includes cushioning and surface
protection products (including air cellular

cushioning materials, shrink and non-
shrink films for non-food applications,
polyurethane foam packaging systems sold
under the Instapak® trademark, polyethyl-
ene foam sheets and planks, a comprehen-
sive line of protective and durable mailers
and bags, cerrain paper-based protective
packaging materials, suspension and reten-
tion packaging, inflatable packaging, and
packaging systems) and other products.
Net sales of cushioning and surface
protection products were: 2001 -
$1,153,123; 2000 — $1,199,059; and
1999 — $1,113,434. Ner sales of other
products for 2001, 2000 and 1999 were
approximately 1% of consolidated net
sales. Products in this segment are primar-
ily sold to distributors and manufacturers
in a wide variety of industries.

2001 2000 19990

Net sales

Food Packaging $1,880,281 $1,837,294 $1,781,420
- Protective and Specialty Packaging 1,187,201 1,230,420 1,150,433

Total $3,067,482 $3,067,714 $2,931,853
Operating profit

Food Packaging $ 287,701 $ 288,880 ) $ 286,184

Protective and Specialty Packaging 210,982 249,684 237,332

Total segments 498,683 538,564 523,516

Restructuring and other (charges) credits (32,805) 1,247 —

Corporate operating expenses (including goodwill

amortization of $57,003, $51,776 and $49,404
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively) (78,487) (71,348) (71,324)

Total $ 387,391 $ 468,463 $ 452,192
Depreciation and amortization

Food Packaging $ 105,333 $. 108,050 $ 111,253

Protective and Specialty Packaging 57,387 58,954 61,958

Total segments 162,720 167,004 173,211

Corporate (including goodwill and other amortization) 57,896 52,637 50,188

Total $ 219,641 $ 223,399
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2001 2000 19990

Capital expenditures )
Food Packaging . $ 103,837 $ 75773 $ 51,307
Protective and Specialty Packaging 42,440 38,424 23,773
Total segments 146,277 114,197 75,080
Corporate — — —
Total $ 146,277 - $ 114,197 $ 75,080
Assets 3
Food Packaging $1,284,080 $1,392,172 $1,322,177
Protective and Specialty Packaging 704,201 734,303 698,184
Total segments 1,988,281 2,126,475 o 2,020,361

Corporate (including goodwill, net of $1,913,000,
$1,959,909 and $1,859,958 in 2001, 2000 and v
1999, respectively) 1,919,628 1,964,407 1,867,222

Total ‘ , $3,907,909 $4,090,882 $3,887,583

(1) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(2) Restructuring and other (charges) credits in 2001 includes a $21,116 charge related to the Food Packaging segment (including a net non-cash charge of $1,361) and a
$11,689 charge related to the Protective and Specialty Packaging segment (including a net non-cash charge of $5,926). The 2000 period includes a non-cash credit of $1,247
related to the Food Packaging segment.

(3) Plant and equipment facilities and other resources of the Food Packaging segment are used to manufacture films (non-food applications) for the Protective and Specialty
Packaging segment. A proportionate share of capital expenditures, assets, depreciation and other costs of manufacturing are allocated to the Protective and Specialty Pack-
aging segment. ‘

Geographic Information

2001 " 2000 1999
Net sales: @) .
North America $1,773,664 $1,782,026 $1,674,198
Europe 775,673 _ 762,271 779,019
Latin America 225,573 ' 225,229 187,110
Asia Pacific 292,572 298,188 291,526
Total $3,067,482 $3,067,714 $2,931,853
Total long-lived assets: 4) :
North America (5} $2,633,733 $2,667,156 $2,569,071
Europe 309,211 307,700 281,951
Latin America : 63,440 62,120 58,638
Asta Pacific ' 119,487 126,675 . 133,855
Toral ' $3,125,871 $3,163,651 $3,043,515

(4) Net sales artributed to the geographic areas represent trade sales to external customers. Net sales in North America represent substantially net sales in the United States. No
non-U.S. country has net sales in excess of 10% of consolidated net sales or long-lived assets. in excess of 10% of consolidated long-lived assets.

(5) Includes goodwill, net, of $1,913,000, $1,959,909 and $1,859,958 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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N @ﬁ@ @ Accounts Receivable Securitization

In December 2001, the Company and
certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into
an accounts receivable securitization pro-
gram (the “Réceivables Facility”) with a
bank and an issuer of commercial paper
administered by that bank (the “ICP”).
Under the Receivables Facility, the Com-
pany’s two primary operating subsidiaries,
Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation
(US) (the “Originators”), sell all of their
eligible U.S. accounts receivable to Sealed
Air Funding Corporation (“SA Funding
Corp.”), an indirect wholly-owned sub-
sidiary of the Company that was formed
for the sole purpose of entering into the
Receivables Facility. SA Funding Corp. in
turn sells an undivided ownership interest
in these receivables to the ICP or the bank,
subject to certain conditions, up to a max-
imum of $125,000 of undivided owner-
ship interests outstanding from time
to time.

SA Funding Corp. retains the receivables it
purchases from the Originators, except
those as to which interests are sold by it
to the ICP or the bank. Sales of accounts
receivable by the Originators to SA Fund-
ing Corp. and sales of interests from
SA Funding Corp. to the ICP and the
bank have been scructured as “true sales”
under applicable laws, and the assets of SA
Funding Corp. are not available to pay
any creditors of the Company or of its
subsidiaries or affiliates. These transactions
are accounted for as sales of receivables
under the provisions of SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishment of
Liabilities.”

In order to secure the performance of their
obligations under the Receivables Facility,
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SA Funding Corp. and the Originators
granted a first priority security interest to
the bank, as agent, in certain collateral,
including accounts receivable owned by
them and proceeds and collections of
those receivables. The ICP and the bank
have no recourse o the Company's, the
Originators’ or SA Funding Corp.’s other
assets for any losses resulting from the
financial inability of customers to pay
amounts due on the receivables when they
become due. As long as a termination
event with respect to the Receivables Facil-
ity has not occurred, the Originators ser-
vice, administer and collect the receivables
under the Receivables Facility as agent on
behalf of SA Funding Corp., the ICP and
the bank. Prior to a termination event
under the Receivables Facility, collections
of receivables not otherwise required to be
paid to the ICP or the bank are used by SA
Funding Corp. to purchase new eligible
receivables from the Originators. The
Company has undertaken to cause the
Originators to perform their obligations
under the Receivables Facility.

The scheduled expiration date for the
Receivables Facility is December 7, 2004,
although the bank’s commitment to make
purchases of receivables interests from SA
Funding Corp. expires on December 7,
2002 and is subject to annual renewal with
the agreement of the parties. Under certain
limited circumstances, none of which had
occurred at December 31, 2001, the ICP
and the bank can terminate purchases of
interests in eligible accounts receivable
prior to these dates. The events that could
result in termination include a downgrad-
ing by either of the two leading credit
rating agencies of the Company’s long-
term senior unsecured debt to BB- or

below by Standard & DPoor’s Rating
Services or Ba3 or below by Moodys
Investors Service, Inc. The Receivables
Facility provides for the payment from
time to time of program fees (currenty
0.375% per annum) on the receivables
interests sold by SA Funding Corp. and
commitment fees (currently 0.325% per
annum) on the unused portion of the

$125,000 Receivables Facility.

In December 2001, the Originators sold
approximately $176,900 of their eligible
U.S. accounts receivable to SA Funding
Corp. SA Funding Corp. in turn sold an
undivided ownership interest in $95,600
of such receivables under the Receivables
Facility, and. this amount has been
removed from the Companys consoli-
dated balance sheet. This amount was
used to pay down certain of the Com-
pany’s outstanding borrowings. SA Fund-
ing Corp. retained the remaining $81,300
of receivables that it acquired from the
Originators. These retained receivables at
December 31, 2001 are included in notes
and accounts receivable on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. The carrying

“amount of the retained receivables approx-

imates fair value because of the relatively
short-term nature of the receivables. The
costs associated with the Receivables Facil-
ity are included in other income (expense),
net, in the Company’s consolidated state-
ment of earnings for the year ended
December 31, 2001. These costs primarily
relate to the loss on the sale of the interests
in receivables to the ICP or the bank,
which was approximately $75, and pro-
gram and commitment fees and other
associated costs, which were approxi-

mately $343.




N @ﬁ@ 5 Acquisitions

In 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company
made several acquisitions: (including the
acquisitions of Dolphin Packaging ple
and Shanklin Corporation in the third
and fourth quarters of 2000, respectively).
These transactions, which were carried out
in exchange for cash, net of cash acquired,
in the aggregate amount of approximately

$36,007 in 2001, $237,541 in 2000
and $25,811 in 1999, were accounted
for as purchases and resulted in goodwill
of approximately $16,700 in 2001,
$153,000 in 2000 and $6,000 in 1999.
The Company assumed approximately
£19,100, $16,600 and $3,100 of debt of
the acquired companies in 2001, 2000

and 1999, respectively. The Company
acquired cash of approximately $8,589
in acquisitions in 2000. Cash acquired
was not material in 1999 or 2001.
These acquisitions were not material to
the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

N @ﬁ@ CE% Inventories

December 31,
2001 2000
Inventories (at FIFO, which approximates current cost):
Raw materials $ 69312 $ 72,537
Work in process 65,148 63,798
Finished goods 174,968 193,169
309,428 329,504
Reduction of certain inventories to LIFO basis (20,858) (20,388)
Total $ 288,570 $ 309,116

Inventories accounted for on a LIFO basis represented approximately 40% of total inventories at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

N ol® 7 Property and Equipment

December 31,
2001 2000
Land and improvements $ 29,784 ' § 35,954
Buildings 413,320 404,514
Machinery and equipment 1,466,954 1,405,119
Other property and equipment 110,666 112,184
Construction-in-progress 139,448 85,707
2,160,172 2,043,478
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,109,734) (1,011,337)
Property and equipment, net $ 1,050,438 $ 1,032,141

Interest cost capitalized during 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $6,800, $3,300» and $3,000, respectively.
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N @ﬁ@ g) Other Liabilities

December 31,
2001 2000
Other cutrent liabilities:
Accrued salaries, wages and related costs v $ 94,145 $ 93,086
Accrued restructuring costs (Note 10) 19,697 ‘ 537
Accrued operating expenses 140,759 124,193
Accrued dividends and interest 22,995 29,457
Income taxes payable ‘ 71,263 32,883
Total $348,859 $280,156
' December 31,
2001 2000
Other liabilities:
Other postretirement benefits $ 3,082 $ 3,699
Non-U.S. statutory social security and pension obligations 33,395 31,103
Other various liabilities 29,205 38,192
Total $ 65,682 $ 72,994

Non-U.S. statutory social security and pension obligations primarily represent the present value of the Company’s unfunded future obliga-
tions for certain eligible, active non-U.S. employees based on actuarial calculations.

N @ﬁ@ @ Income Taxes

The components of earnings before income taxes were as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Domestic $213,689 $310,361 $233,493
Foreign 83,763 103,068 162,160
Tortal $297.452 $413,429 $395,653
The components of the provision for income raxes were as follows:
2001 2000 1999
Current tax expense:
Federal $ 82,124 $ 96,864 $ 77,391
State and local 17,828 23,498 20,455
Foreign 49,886 47,387 66,988
Total current 149,838 167,749 164,834
Deferred tax (benefit) expense:
Federal 2,089 14,769 10,371
State and local 449 3,668 2,593
Foreign (11,621) 1,924 6,394
Total deferred . (9,083) 20,361 19,358
Total provision $140,755 $188,110 $184,192

{Continued on following page.)
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Deferred tax liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2001 2000

Accruals not yet deductible for tax purposes $ 22,002 $ 20,865
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards and investment tax allowances 16,256 22,772
Employee benefit items 10,987 15,781
Inventories 10,994 13,576
Research and development 1,751 5,877
Postretirement benefits other than pensions 1,239 1,487
Other 7,414 6,911

Gross deferred tax assets 70,643 87,269
Valuation allowance (15,956) (15,049)

Total deferred tax assets 54,687 72,220
Depreciation and amortization (111,216) (125,640)
Unremitted foreign earnings (39,645) (38,683)
Intangibles (27,021) (29,891)
Pension N (19,008) (19,414)
Capitalized interest (10,166) (12,421)
Other (12,228) (11,539)

Tortal deferred tax liabilities (219,284) (237,588)
Ner deferred tax liabilities $(164,597) $(165,368)
The U.S. federal statutory corporate tax rate reconciles to the Company’s effective tax rate as follows:

’ 2001 2000 1999

Statutory U.S. federal tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 4.0 4.3 3.8
U.S. and foreign taxes on unremitted earnings 0.9 0.4 0.9
Foreign taxes on foreign operations in excess of U.S. tax rates 0.7 0.6 1.8
Non-deductible expenses, primarily goodwill amortization 6.7 5.2 5.1 .

Effective tax rate 47.3% 45.5% 46.6%

The Company has concluded that it is
more likely than not that the $54,687
balance of deferred tax assets, net of
the valuation allowance of $15,956, at
December 31, 2001 will be realized based
upon anticipated future results. The valua-
tion allowance is primarily related to the
uncertainty of utilizing $22,114 of foreign

net operating loss carryforwards ($6,847
tax effected) and $33,603 of investment
tax allowances ($9,409 tax effected) that

have no expiration period.

The Company provides for U.S. income
taxes on that portion of foreign subsid-
faries’ accumulated earnings that manage-

ment believes are not reinvested indefi-
nitelyin their businesses. As of December
31, 2001, the Company has provided for
$39,645 of taxes in respect of these
earnings.
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N @ﬁ@ j\_ @ Restructuring Costs and Other Charges

2001 Restructuring Program

During 2001, based primarily on weaken-
ing economic conditions, especially in the
U.S., the Company conducted a review of
its business to reduce costs and expenses,
simplify business processes and organiza-
tional structure, and to refine further che
Company’s manufacturing operations and
product offerings. As a result of such
review, which was completed in the fourth
quarter, the Company announced and
began implementing a restructuring pro-
gram that resulted in charges to operations
in the second, third and fourth quarters of
2001. Such charges amounted to $32,805
for the year ended December 31, 2001,
and included $23,877 of employee termi-
nation costs, $1,641 of facilicy exit costs
and $7,287 of long-lived asset impair-
ments. The portion of this restructuring
charge related 1o the Company’s food
packaging segment amounted to $21,116
and the portion applicable to the protec-
tive and specialty packaging segment
amounted to $11,689. The asset impair-

ment amount of $7,287 includes write-
downs or write-offs of $3,877 for property,
plant and equipment, $3,342 for good-
will, and $68 for certain other long-lived
assets. These impairments related to deci-
sions to rationalize and realign production
of certain small product lines and close
several manufacturing and warehouse
facilities in North America, Europe, South
Africa and the Asia Pacific region. The
annual reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense as a result of such
asset impairments is expected to be
$365. Substantially all of the property,
plant and equipment has either been dis-
posed of or is held for disposition. The
remaining carrying value as of December
31, 2001 of assets held for disposition was
approximately $745 and the effect of sus-
pending depreciation of such assets is
immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company expects to
incur $25,518 of cash outlays to carry out
the restructuring program, of which
approximately $5,821 was paid in 2001.
These cash oudays include primarily sever-

The components of the 2001 Restructuring Program are as follows:

ance and other personnel-related costs and
the costs of terminating lease and other
contractual arrangements. In connection
with the restructuring, the Company is
eliminating approximately 793 positions.
However, with the prospective addidon of
approximately 323 jobs in connection
with the Company’s realignment or relo-
cation of certain manufacturing activities,
the net reduction in headcount positions is
expected to be approximately 470. These
793 positions are from all geographic areas
in which the Company does business but
are primarily involved in the Company’s
manufacturing and sales and marketing
functions in North America and Europe.
Through December 31, 2001, 220 of
the 793 positions have been eliminated,
and the remaining restructuring actions
accrued in 2001, including the disposition
of impaired assets, are expected to be
substantially completed during 2002,
although certain cash outlays are expected
to continue into future years.

Employee Plant/Office
_ Termination Costs Exit Cost Total Cost
Restructuring liability recorded in 2001 $ 23,877 $ 1,641 $25,518
Cash payments during 2001 (5,644) (177) (5,821)
Restructuring liability at December 31, 2001 $ 18,233 $ 1,464 $ 19,697

1998 Restructuring Program

All restructuring actions related to the 1998 Restructuring Program, consisting of final cash outlays for severance and other personnel-
related costs, were completed during 2001 as follows:

Employee
Termination
Costs
Restructuring liability at December 31, 2000 $ 537
Payments during 2001 (537)
Restructuring liability at December 31, 2001 § -
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N@ﬁ@ a1l Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs

Profit-Sharing and Retirement
Savings Plans

~The Company has a non—contribufory

profit-sharing plan covering most of
the Company’s U.S. employees. Conuribu-
tions to this plan, which are made at the
discretion of the Board of Directors, may
be made in cash, shares of the Company’s
common stock, or in a combination ‘of
cash and shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock. The Company also maintains -
contributory thrift and retirement savings
plans in which most U.S. employees of the
Company are eligible to participate. The
contributory thrift and retirement savings
plans generally provide for Company con-
tributions based upon the amount con-
tributed to the plans by the participants.

amounted to $26,064, $22,004, and
$31,852 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respec-
tively. In 2001, there were no shares of
common stock issued for the Company's
contribudon to its proficsharing plan.
The value of shares of common stock
issued for the Company’s contribution to
the profit-sharing plan in 2000 and 1999
was $13,877 and $8,823, respectively.

Pension Plans

The Company maintains pension plans
for certain U.S. employees, including cer-
tain employees who are covered by collec-
tive bargaining agreements. Net periodic
pension costs for all U.S. defined benefit
pension plans charged to operations dur-
ing 2001, 2000 and 1999 amounted to

The balance sheet as of December 31,
2000 includes the following items related
to such plans: an intangible asset of
$1,706, accumulated other comprehen-
sive income of $59, an accrued benefit lia-
bility of $21, and a prepaid pension asset
of $2,510. The aggregate benefit obliga-
tion at December 31, 2001 and 2000
amounted to $19,671 and $16,802,
respectively, while the fair value of plan
assets at such dates amounted to $18,862
and $15,423, respectively. :

Certain of the Companys non-U.S.
employees participate in defired benefit
pension plans in their respective countries.
The following presents the Company’s
funded status for 2001 and 2000 under

- SFAS No. 132 for its non-U.S. pension

Company contributions to or provisions $850, $624 and $1,088, respectively. The plans. -~

for its profit-sharing and retirement sav- balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 '

ings plans are charged to operations and includes a prepaid pension asset of $7,829.

Change in benefit obligation: 2001 2000
Benefit obligation at beginning of period _ $137,126 $133,206
Service cost 4,901 6,754
Interest cost 7,912 7,390
Actuarial loss 873 2,123
Plan merger — 3,275
Curtailment (gain) loss (1,042) 1,614
Benefits paid (10,864) (7,881)
Employee contributions - 926 1,403
Foreign exchange impact (6,002) (10,758)
Benefit obligation at end of period $133,830 $137,126

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $150,478 $160,568
Plan merger — ) 2,289
Actual (loss) return on plan assets (9,796) 4,980
Employer contributions 1,809 A 1,982
Benefits paid (10,864) (7,881)
Assets transferred to defined contribution plan (509) —
Employee contributions 926 . 1,403
Foreign exchange impact ' (6,333) (12,863)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period $125,711 $150,478

(Continued on following page.)
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Funded status: . 2001 2000

Plan assets (less than) in excess of benefit obligation $ (8,119) $ 13,352
Unrecognized net obligation 286 335
Unrecognized net prior service cost ' 712 862
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 39,320 19,364
Net asset recognized at end of period $ 32,199 $ 33913
Amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consists of:
Prepaid benefit cost $ 53,039 $ 54,156
Accrued benefit liability (25,131) (23,410)
Intangible asset 563 691
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,728 . 2,476
Net amount recognized $ 32,199 $ 33,913

The following presents the Company’s pension expense for 2001, 2000 and 1999 under SFAS No. 132 for its non-U.S. pension plans.

Year ended - Year ended Year ended
Components of net periodic benefit cost: December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Service cost $ 4,901 $ 6,754 : $ 6,984
Interest cost 7,912 7,390 7,116
Expected return on plan assets -(12,364) (13,060) (12,169)
Amortization of obligation (asset) - 36 (159) (487)
Amortization of prior service cost 110 115 106
Amortization of net actuarial loss 583 _ 326 1,096
Net periodic pension cost $ 1,178 $ 1,366 $ 2,646

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit
obligations in excess of plan assets were $26,733, $24,009 and $7,612 as of December 31, 2001, respectively, and $32,924, $28,440 and
$4,920 as of December 31, 2000, respectively.

The following significant assumptions were used in calculating the pension cost and funded status presented above:

2001 2000 1999
Discount rate at December 31 5.8% 5.9% 5.7%
Expected long-term rate of return 8.1% 8.6% 8.6%
Rate of compensation increase 3.5% 3.9% 3.8%
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Nole 112 beb:

A summary of debt at December 31, 2001 and 2000 follows:

December 31,
2001 - 2000
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt: :
364-Day Revolving Credit Agreements $ — $ 127,885
Other short-term borrowings 135,548 162,543
Current portion of long-term debt 1,943 1,418
Total current debt 137,491 291,846
Lbng—term debt, less current portion: ‘
Revolving Credit Agreement due March 2003 7,539 456,263
5.625% Euro Notes due July 20006, less discount of
$844 and $1,056 in 2001 and 2000, respectively 175,666 " 185,145
8.75% Senior Notes due July 2008, less discount of $3,999 296,001 —
6.95% Senior Notes due May 2009, less discount of
$1,736 and $1,909 in 2001 and 2000, respectively 298,264 298,091
Other 10,641 4,954
Total Jong-term deb, less current portion 788,111 944,453
Total debt $ 925,602 $1,236,299

During 2001, the Company paid down
$154,355 of its current debt and
$156,342 of its long-term debt. These
repayments and the financing transactions
discussed below permitted the Company
to eliminate all borrowings under the
Company’s 364-day revolving credit
agreements, pay down all but $7,539 of
the amounts outstanding under the
revolving credit agreement due March 30,

- 2003 (the “2003 Facility”), and reduced

amounts due under various short-term
lines of credit maintained by various of its
subsidiaries. These payments were made
from operating cash flows, the net pro-
ceeds of the 8.75% Senior Notes, dis-
cussed below, and the sale of eligible
receivables under the Receivables Facility
discussed in Note 4. The issuance of the
8.75% Senior Notes also lengthened the

Company’s average debt maturities.

On June 26, 2001 the Company issued
$300,000 aggregate principal amount of
8.75% Senior Notes due July 1, 2008 (the
“8.75% Senior Notes”) under Rule 144A
and Regulation S of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended. The net proceeds of
$295,773 from the issuance of these Notes

were used to refinance a portion of the

borrowings under the 2003 Facility
described below. These Notes were priced
at 98.591% to yield 9.025%. Accrued
interest on these Notes is payable semi-
annually on January 1 and July 1 of each
year, with the first payment in January
2002.

Substantially all of the Company’s short-
term borrowings of $135,548, at Decem-
ber 31, 2001 were outstanding under lines
of credit available to various of the
Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiaries.
Amounts available under these credit lines
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 were
approximately $326,000 and $352,000,
respectively, of which approximately
$190,000 and $189,000, respectively,

were unused.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company had available committed and
uncommitted lines of credit of approxi-
mately $1,046,000 and $1,252,000,
respectively, of which approximately
$903,000 and $505,000, respectively,
were unused. Such credit lines include
amounts available under the 364-Day
Facility, the 2003 Facility and the other

lines of credit available to the Company’s

subsidiaries. The Company is not subject
to any material compensating balance
requirements in connection with its lines
of credit.

The 2003 Facility, which is a multi-year
$525,000 credit facility, and a 364-day
$194,375 revolving credit facility that
expires on March 22, 2002 (the “364-Day
Facility”) are the Companys principal
revolving credit facilicies. The borrowings
of $127,885 shown in the tble above
under the caption “364-Day Revolving
Credit Agreements” at December 31,
2000 were borrowings under a previous
364-day revolving credit facility that the
Company replaced with the 364-Day
Facility on March 23, 2001. The Com-
pany had not utilized the 364-Day Facility
as of December 31, 2001.

The 364-Day Facility and the 2003 Facil-
ity provide that the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries may borrow for various
purposes, including the refinancing of
existing debr, the provision of working
capital and other general corporate needs,
including acquisitions, repurchases of the
Company’s outstanding common and pre-
ferred stock and capital expenditures.

(Continued on following page.)



Amounts repaid under these credit facili-
ties may be re-borrowed from time to time
prior to the expiration or earlier termina-
tion of the facilities. As of December 31,
2001, facility fees were payable at the rates
of 0.125% per annum under the 2003
Facility and 0.300% per annum under the
364-Day Facility on the total amounts
available under each of these credit
faciliries.

The obligations under these credit facili-
ties bear interest at floating rates. The
floating rates are generally determined by
adding the applicable borrowing margin
to the interbank rate for the relevant
currency and time period. The weighted
average interest rate for outstanding

borrowings under the 2003 Facility and
the Company’s 364-day facilities was
approximately 4.2% at December 31,
2001 and 7.0% at December 31, 2000.

The 2003 Facility and the 364-Day Facil-
ity provide for changes in borrowing mar-
gins based on the Company’s long-term
senior unsecured debt ratings and, in addi-
tion, with respect to the 2003 Facility, cer-
tain financial criteria. The 2003 Facility
and 364-Day Facility, the Euro Notes, the
8.75% Senior Notes and the 6.95%
Senior Notes impose limitations on the
operations of the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries. These limitations include,
depending upon the debt in question,
financial covenants relating to interest

coverage and debt leverage as well as
restrictions on the incurrence of additional
indebtedness, the creation of liens, sale and
leaseback transactions, mergers and acqui-
sitions and certain dispositions of assets.
The Company and its subsidiaries were in
compliance with these requirements as of
December 31, 2001.

Scheduled annual maturities of long-rerm

debt, exclusive of debt discounts, for the
five years subsequent to December 31,
2001 are as follows: 2002 — $1,943; 2003
— $9,660; 2004 — $1,762; 2005 - $1,976;
2006 — $177,648; and thereafter —
$603,644.

N @ﬁ@ 1L Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company
adopted SFAS No. 133 which requires
thar all derivative instruments be reported
on the balance sheet at fair value and
establishes criteria for designation and
effectiveness of transactions entered into
for hedging purposes. The cumulative
effect of adopting SFAS No. 133 was not
material to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

The Company is exposed to market risk,
such as fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates and changes in interest
rates. To manage the volatility relating to
these exposures, the Company enters into
various derivative instruments pursuant to
its risk management policies. Designation
of derivative instruments as hedges is per-
formed on a transaction basis to support
hedge accounting, The changes in fair
value of these hedging instrumenss are off-
set in part or in whole by corresponding
changes in the fair value or cash flows of
the underlying exposures being hedged.
The Company assesses the initial and
ongoing effectiveness of its hedging rela-
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tionships in accordance with its docu-
mented policy. The Company does not
purchase, hold or sell derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes.

The Company’s subsidiaries have foreign
currency exchange exposure from buying
and selling in currencies other than their
functional currencies. The primary pur-
pose of the Company’s foreign currency
hedging activities is to manage the poten-
tial changes in value associated with for-
eign currency purchases and sales and to
fix the amounts receivable or payable on
transactions denominated in foreign cur-
rencies. At December 31, 2001, the Com-
pany was party to foreign currency
forward contracts maturing through June
2002, with an aggregate notional amount
of approximately $266,902. Such con-
tracts had original maturities of less than
twelve months and qualified and were des-
ignated as cash flow hedges.

The Company may use the following
other derivative instruments from time to
time: options, collars and swaps to manage

its exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates; foreign exchange options to manage
exposure due to foreign exchange rates;
and interest rate and currency swaps to
gain access to additional sources of inter-
national financing while limiting foreign
exchange exposure and limiting or adjust-
ing interest rate exposure by swapping bor-
rowings in one currency for borrowings
denominated in another currency. At
December 31, 2001 the Company was
not party to any of these types of contracts.

Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying
as cash flow hedges are recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss), to the extent
that such hedges are effective and unil the
underlying transactions are recognized in
earnings, at which time such gains and
losses are recognized in the consolidated
statement of earnings. Net losses included
in other comprehensive income (loss) for
the year ended December 31, 2001 were
$131 after tax ($210 pre-tax) all of which
is expected to be included in interest
expense or other income (expense), net,
within the next twelve months. The

(Continued on following page.)




unrealized amounts in other comprehen-
stve income (loss) will fluctuate based on
changes in the fair value of open contracts
at each reporting period. The Company’s
practice is to terminate derivative transac-
tions if the underlying asset or liability
matures or is sold or terminated, or if the
underlying forecasted transaction is no
longer deemed to be probable of occur-

ring. Due to highly effective cash flow
hedges in 2001, the effect on the Com-
pany’s consolidated net earnings was not
material.

The Company is exposed to credit losses if
the counterparties to its outstanding deriv-
ative contracts are unable to perform their

obligations. However, it does not expect
any counterparties to fail to perform as
they are major financial institutions with
high credit ratings and financial strength.
Nevertheless, there is a risk that the Com-
pany’s exposure to losses arising out of
derivative contracts could be material if
the counterparties to such agreements fail
to perform their obligations.

N @ﬁ@ ﬂ ‘4} Financial Instruments

The Company is required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United
States of America to disclose its estimate of
the fair value of material financial instru-
ments, including those recorded as assets
or liabilities in its consolidated financial
statements and derivative financial instru-
ments. The carrying amounts of current
assets and liabilities approximate fair value
due to their short-term maturities. The fair
value of the Companys 8.75% Senior
Notes, 6.95% Senior Notes, Euro Notes
and Series A convertible preferred stock
are based on quoted market prices. The
fair value estimates of the Company’s
various other debt instruments were

derived by evaluating the nature and terms
of each instrument, considering prevailing
economic and market conditions, and
examining the cost of similar debt offered
at the balance sheet date. Such estimates
are subjective and involve uncertainties
and matters of significant judgment and
therefore cannot be determined with pre-
cision. Changes in assumptions could sig-
nificantly affect the Company’s esimates.
The fair values of the Company’s various
derivative instruments, which are based on
current market rates, generally reflect the
estimated amounts that the Company
would receive or pay to terminate the con-
tracts at the reporting date.

All financial instruments inherently expose
the holders to market risk, including
changes in currency and interest rates. The
Company manages its exposute to these
market risks through its regular operating
and financing activities and, when it con-
siders appropriate, through the use of
derivative financial instruments.

The Company uses derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure o
fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. The Company does not
purchase, hold or sell derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. For fur-
ther discussion of derivative instruments

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s material financial instruments at December 31, 2001 and 2000

were as follows:

2001 2000
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Derivative financial assets:
Foreign currency forward contracts $ 523 $ 523 $ — $ 253
Derivative financial liabilities:
Foreign currency forward contracts $ 210 $ 210 $ — $ —
Financial liabilities:
Debt:
Credit Agreements $ 7,539 $ 7539 $ 584,148 $ 584,148
8.75% Senior Notes 296,001 303,075 — —
6.95% Senior Notes 298,264 275,229 298,091 257,832
Euro Notes 175,666 156,370 185,145 148,066
Other foreign loans 143,828 142,622 165,114 165,210
Other loans 4,304 4,599 3,801 3,994
Total debt $ 925,602 $ 889,434 $1,236,299 $1,159,250
Series A convertible preferred stock $1,366,154 ' $1,132,542 $1,392,373 $ 849,348

(Continued on following page.)
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relating to the implementation of SFAS
No. 133 see Note 13.

Interest rate collars are used, from time to
time, to reduce the Company’s exposure
to fluctuations in interest rates by
limiting fluctuations in the rate of
interest the Company pays on a notional
amount of debt. At December 31, 2001,
the Company was not party to any inter-
est rate collars. At December 31, 2000, the
Company was party to an interest rate

collar with an aggregate notional amount
of approximately $8,000 that matured in
June 2001.

The Company uses foreign currency
forward contracts to fix the amounts
receivable or payable on transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. At
December 31, 2001, the Company was
party to foreign currency forward con-
tracts, maturing through June 2002, with
an aggregate notional amount of approx-

imately $266,902. At December 31,
2000, the Company was party to foreign
currency forward contracts, marturing
through December 2001, with an aggre-
gate notional amount of approximately
$13,800.

Unrealized and realized gains and losses on
the Company’s financial instruments and
derivatives were not material to the con-
solidated financial statements in 2001,
2000 or 1999.

N @ﬁ@ ﬂ5 Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock

The following is a summary of changes during 2001, 2000 and 1999 in shares of common stock:

2001 2000 1999
Changes in common stock:
Number of shares, beginning of year 84,352,492 84,135,255 83,806,361
Shares issued for contingent stock 113,950 183,050 246,300
Non-cash compensation 7,926 10,800 13,000
Conversion of preferred stock 139 1,008 5,483
Exercise of stock options 19,997 22,379 64,111
Number of shares issued, end of year 84,494,504 84,352,492 84,135,255
Changes in common stock in treasury:
Number of shares held, beginning of year 706,265 535,356 494,550
Contingent stock forfeited 11,850 21,550 15,400
Purchase of shares during period — 494,737 251,000
Non-cash compensation (500) (60,000) (50,000)
Profic sharing contribution — (285,378) (175,594)
Number of shares held, end of year 717,615 706,265 535,356

Centingent Steck Plan and Directors
Stock Plan

The Companys contingent stock plan
provides for the granting to employees of
awards to purchase common stock (during
the succeeding 60-day period) for less than
100% of fair market value at the date of
award. Shares issued under the contingent
stock plan (“contingent stock™) are
restricted as to disposition by the holders
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for a period of at least three years after
award. In the event of termination of
employment prior to lapse of the restric-
tion, the shares are subject to an option to
repurchase by the Company at the price at
which the shares were issued. Such restric-
tion lapses prior to the expiration of the
vesting period if certain events occur that
affect the existence or control of the Com-
pany. The aggregate fair value of contin-

gent stock issued is credited to common

stock and additional paid-in capiral
accounts, and the unamortized portion of
the compensation is deducted from share-
holders” equity. The excess of fair value
over the award price of contingent stock is
charged to operations as compensation
expense over a three-year period. Such
charges amounted w0 $9,962, $16,015
and $15,679 in 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

(Continued on following page.)




Non-cash compensation includes shares
issued to non-employee directors in the
form of awards under the Company’s
restricted stock plan for non-employee
directors (the “Directors Stock Plan”). The
Directors Stock Plan provides for annual
grants of shares to non-employee directors,
and interim grants of shares to eligible
directors elected at other than an annual
meeting, at an amount less than 100% of
fair value at date of gran, as all or part of
the annual retainer fees for non-employee
directors. Shares issued under this plan are

~ restricted as to disposition by the holders

as long as such holders remain directors

of the Company. The excess of fair value
over the price at which shares are issued
under this plan is charged to operations at
the date of such grant. Such charges
amounted to $367, $587 and $842 in
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Amor-
tization expense related to the issuance of
60,000 and 50,000 shares in 2000 and
1999, respectively, of the Company’s com-
mon stock in exchange for certain non-
employee consulting services was $1,639,
$1,474 and $269, in 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively. Such shares vest ratably
over a three to five year period and are
amortized on a straight-line basis.

The Company has adopted only the dis-
closure provisions of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion,” but applies APB No. 25 and related
interpretations in accounting for these
plans. Since the compensation cost noted
above is consistent with the compensation
cost that would have been recognized for
such plans under the provisions of SFAS
No. 123, the pro forma disclosure require-
ments under such statement are not

applicable for these plans.

A summary of the changes in shares available for the Contingent Stock Plan and the Directors Stock Plan follows:

2001 2000 1999

Changes in Contingent Stock Plan shares:

Number of shares available, beginning of year 1,587,050 1,748,550 1,978,450

Shares issued for new awards (114,450) (183,050) (246,300)

Contingent stock forfeited 11,850 21,350 16,400

Number of shares available, end of year 1,484,450 1,587,050 1,748,550

Weighted average per share market value of stock on grant date $ 4044 $ 4896 $ 5519
Changes in Directors Stock Plan shares:

Number of shares available, beginning of year 04,200 75,000 88,000

Shares issued for new awards (8,400) (10,800) ’ (13,000)

Number of shares available, end of year 55,800 64,200 75,000

Weighted average per share market value of stock on grant date % 4465 $ 53531 $ 64.88

Redeemable Preferred Stock - Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company’s Series A preferred stock is
listed on the New York Stock Exchange
and is convertible at any time into approx-
imately 0.885 share of common stock for
each share of preferred stock. These shares
vote with the common stock on an as-
converted basis and receive a cash divi-
dend, as declared by the Board of Direc-
tors, at an annual rate of $2.00 per share,
payable quarterly in arrears. Subject to
conditions (which have not been met as of
December 31, 2001) set forth in the
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as

amended, the Series A preferred stock is
redeerable at the option of the Company.
Under the Companys Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, the Series A
preferred stock is redeemable at the option
of the Company on or after March 31,
2003 without regard to these conditions.
The Series A preferred stock is also subject
to mandatory redemption on March 31,
2018 at $50 per share, plus any accrued
and unpaid dividends, to the extent these
shares remain outstanding. Because it is
subject to mandatory redemption, the
Series A convertible preferred stock is clas-
sified outside of the sharcholders’ equity

section of the consolidated balance sheets.

At its date of issuance, the fair value of
the Series A preferred stock exceeded its
mandatory redemption amount primarily
due to the common stock conversion fea-

" ture. Accordingly, the book value of the

Series A preferred stock is reflected in the
consolidated balance sheets ‘at its manda-
tory redemption value. During 2001, the
Company repurchased 524,220 shares of
the Company’s convertible preferred stock
at a cost of approximately $18,754, repre-
senting a cost approximately $7,456 below
its book value. This excess of book value
over the purchase price of the preferred
stock was recorded as an increase to addi-

tional paid-in-capital.

(Continued on following page.)
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The following is a summary of changes during 2001, 2000 and 1999 in shares of the Company’s Series A preferred stock:

2001 2000 1999

Changes in preferred stock:

Number of shares issued, beginning of year 28,282,362 36,015,645 36,021,851

Conversion of preferred stock (158) (1,146) {6,206)

Retired (924,120) (7,732,137) —

Number of shares issued, end of year 27,358,084 28,282,362 36,015,645
Changes in preferred stock in treasury:

Number of shares held, beginning of year 434,900 782,400 200,000

Purchase of shares during period 524,220 7,384,637 582,400

Retired (924,120) (7,732,137) —

Number of shares held, end of year 35,000 434,900 782,400

Stock Options

Stock option plans in which cerrain
employees of the Cryovac packaging busi-
ness particiated were terminated effective
March 31, 1998 in connection with the
Cryovac Transaction except with respect to
options that were still outstanding as of
such date. Such options, which were

granted at an exercise price equal to their
fair market value on the date of grant, have
terms of up to ten years and one month
from the date of grant. No options have
been granted since 1997.

During 2001, 2000 and 1999, 19,997,
22,379 and 64,111 options, respectively,

were exercised with an aggregate exercise

price of $503, $860 and $2,029, respec-
tively. At December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, 371,178, 395,116 and 426,066
options, respectively, to purchase shares of
common stock were outstanding at an
average per share exercise price of $38.28,

$37.66 and $37.83, respectively.

The pro forma effect on earnings and earnings per common share of applying SFAS No. 123 for those options granted to employees prior

to termination of the plans were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2000 1999

Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders:

As reported $206,366 $141,607

Pro forma (D 206,191 140,867
Basic earnings per common share:

As reported $ 247 $ 169

Pro forma (@ 2.46 1.69
Diluted earnings per common share: y

As reported $ 193 $ 1.68

Pro forma @ 1.93 1.67

(1) These pro forma amounts calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123 may not be indicative of future net earnings or earnings per common share éffects.

All options granted prior to the termina-
tion of the plan in 1998 had fully vested
prior to January 1, 2001; therefore, there is
no pro forma effect on earnings and earn-
ings per common share as a result of
applying SFAS No. 123 for the year ended
December 31, 2001.
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The fair value of 1997 option grants, the
last year in which options were granted
before termination of the plans, after
giving effect to adjustments provided for
in the Cryovac Transaction, was estimated
using- the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following historical
weighted average assumptions: dividend

yields of 19; expected volatility of 29%;
risk-free interest rates of 6%; and 4 years of
expected life.

Based on the above assumptions, the
weighted-average fair value of each option
granted in 1997 was $10.60 after giving
effect to the Cryovac Transaction.




N @ﬂ.—@ il @ Supplementary Cash Flow Information

2001 2000 1999
Interest payments, net of amounts capitalized $ 065225 $ 55,384 $ 48,810
Income tax payments 141,661 176,235 172,980
Non-cash items:
Issuance of shares of common stock to the profit sharing plan $ — $ 13,877 $ 8823

N @ﬂ@ 1l ? Earnings Per Common Share

In calculating basic and diluted earnings
per common share, the weighted average
number of common shares assumes the
exercise of dilutive stock options in each
year as well as the repurchase of preferred

stock in each period. Except as noted in
the table below, the outstanding preferred
stock is not assumed to be converted in
the calculation of diluted earnings per

common share because the treatment of

the preferred stock as the common stock
into which it is convertible would be anti-
dilutive (i.e., would increase earnings per
common share) in those years.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share computations for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 (shares in thousands).

2001 2000 1999
Basic EPS:
Numerator :
Net earnings $156,697 $225,319 $211,461
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock 7,456 45,283 1,568
Less: Preferred stock dividends 55,024 64,266 71,422
Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders — basic $109,129 $206,336 $141,607
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic 83,692 83,672 83,553
Basic earnings per common share $ 130 $ 247 $ 1.69
Diluted EPS:
Numerator »
Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders — basic $109,129 $206,336 $141,607
Add: Dividends associated with preferred stock repurchased 302 8,423 916
Less: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock 7,456 45,283 1,568
Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders — diluted ' $101,975 $169,476 " $140,955
Denominator ‘
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic 83,692 83,672 83,553
Effect of assumed exercise of options — 90 131
Weighted average of preferred stock purchased 208 4,189 444
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted : 83,900 87,951 . 84,128
Diliited earnings per common share $ 122 $ -1.93 $ 1.68
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N @ﬁ@ il @ Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is obligated under the
terms of various leases covering many of
the facilities that it occupies. The Com-
pany accounts for substantially all of its
leases as operating leases. Net rental
expense was $23,238, $23,497 and
$24,667 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respec-
tively. Estimated future minimum annual
rental commitments under noncancelable
real property leases are as follows: 2002 —
$20,925; 2003 — $15,984; 2004 -
$11,290; 2005 - $7,973; 2006 — $5,970;
and subsequent years —~ $9,418.

On March 31, 1998, the Company com-
pleted a multi-step transaction (the “Cry-
ovac Transaction”), which brought the
Cryovac packaging business and the for-
mer Sealed Air Corporation (“old Sealed
Air”) under the common ownership of the
Company. These businesses operate as
subsidiaries of the Company, and the
Company acts as a holding company. As
part of that transaction, the Cryovac pack-
aging business, held by various direct and
indirect subsidiaries of the Company, was
separated from the remaining businesses of
the Company. Such remaining businesses
were then contributed to a company now
known as W. R. Grace & Co. (“New
Grace”), whose shares were distributed to
the Company's stockholders. As a result,
New Grace became a separate publicly
owned company. The Company recapital-
ized its outstanding shares of common
stock into a new common stock and a new
converdble preferred stock. A subsidiary of
the Company then merged into old Sealed
Air, which changed its name to Sealed Air
Corporation (US). The agreements pur-
suant to which the Cryovac Transaction
was carried out are referred to below as the
“Transaction Agreements.”

In connection with the Cryovac Transac-
tion, New Grace and its subsidiaries
retained all liabilities arising out of their
operations before the Cryovac Transac-
tion, whether accruing or occurring before
or after the Cryovac Transaction, other
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than liabilities arising from or relating to
Cryovac's operations. The liabilities
retained by New Grace include, among
others, liabilities relating to asbestos-
containing products previously manufac-
tured or sold by New Grace's subsidiaries
prior to the Cryovac Transaction, includ-
ing its primary U.S. operating subsidiary,
W. R. Grace & Co. - Conn., which has
operated for decades and has been a sub-
sidiary of New Grace since the Cryovac
Transaction. The Transaction Agreements
provided that, should any claimant seek to
hold the Company, including any of its
subsidiaries, responsible for liabilities of
New Grace or its subsidiaries, including
such asbestos-related liabilities, New Grace
and its subsidiaries would indemnify and
defend the Company.

Since the beginning of 2000, the Com-
pany has been served with a number of
lawsuits alleging that, as a result of the
Cryovac Transaction, the Company is
responsible for alleged asbestos liabilities of
New Grace and its subsidiaries, certain of
which were also named as co-defendants
in some of these actions. These actions
include several purported class actions and
a2 number of personal injury lawsuits.
Some plaintiffs seek damages for personal
injury or wrongful death while others seek
medical monitoring, environmental reme-
diation or remedies related to an attic insu-
lation product. Neither old Sealed Air nor
Cryovac ever produced or sold any of the
asbestos-containing materials that are the
subjects of these cases. None of these cases
has been resolved through judgment, set-
tlement or otherwise. All such cases have
been stayed in connection with New
Grace's Chapter 11 bankruprtcy proceed-
ing discussed below.

While the allegations in these actions
directed to the Company vary, these
actions all appear to allege that the transfer
of the Cryovac business as part of the
Cryovac Transaction was a fraudulent
transfer or gave rise to successor liability.

Under a theory of successor liability, plain-
tiffs with claims against Néw Grace and its
subsidiaries may attempt to hold the
Company liable for liabilicies that arose
with respect to activities conducted prior
to the Cryovac Transaction by W. R. Grace
& Co. - Conn., or other New Grace sub-
sidiaries. A transfer would be a fraudulent
transfer if the transferor received less than
reasonably equivalent value and the trans-
feror was insolvent or was rendered insol-
vent by the transfer, was engaged or was
about to engage in a business for which its
assets constitute unreasonably small capi-
tal, or intended to incur or believed that it
would incur debts beyond its ability to pay
as they mature. A transfer may also be
fraudulent if it was made with actual
intent to hinder, delay or defraud credi-
tors. If any transfers in connection with
the Cryovac Transaction were found by a
court to be fraudulent transfers, the Com-
pany could be required to return the prop-
erty or its value to the transferor or could
be required to fund certain liabilities of
New Grace or its subsidiaries for the ben-
efit of their creditors, including asbestos
claimants.

In the Joint Proxy Statement furnished to
their respective stockholders in connection
with the Cryovac Transaction, both Sealed
Air and Grace stated that it was their belief
that New Grace and its subsidiaries were
adequately capitalized and would be ade-
quately capitalized after the Cryovac
Transaction and that none of the transfers
contemplated to occur in the Cryovac
Transaction would be a fraudulent trans-
fer. They also stated their belief that the
Cryovac Transaction complied with other
relevant laws. However, if a court applying
the relevant legal standards reached con-
clusions adverse to the Company, such
determination could have a materially
adverse effect on the Company’s consoli-
dated results of operations and financial
position.

(Continued on following page.)




On April 2, 2001, New Grace and certain
of its subsidiaries filed a petition for reor-

ganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy

Court in the District of Delaware. New’

Grace stated that the filing was made in
response to a sharply increasing number of
asbestos claims since 1999.

In connection with its Chapter 11 filing,
New Grace filed an application with the
Bankruptey Court seeking to stay, among
others, all actions brought against the
Company related to alleged asbestos liabil-
ities of New Grace and its subsidiaries or
alleging fraudulent transfer claims. The
court issued an order dated May 3, 2001,
which was modified on January 22, 2002,
under which all such filed or pending
actions against the Company were stayed
and all such future actions are stayed upon
filing and service on the Company. No
further proceedings involving the Com-
pany can occur in the actions that have
been stayed except upon further order of
the Bankruptcy Court. The Company
believes that New Grace's filing for reorga-
nization may provide a single forum in
which all such claims might be resolved.

Committees appointed in New Grace’s
bankruptcy case have sought the courts
permission to pursue fraudulent transfer
claims against the Company and against
Fresenius, as discussed below. The claims
against Fresenius are based upon a 1996
transaction between Fresenius and
W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. Fresenius is
not affiliated with the Company. In Feb-
ruary 2002, the court indicated that the
issues of the solvency of Grace following
the Fresenius transaction and the solvency
of New Grace following the Cryovac
Transaction and whether the transferor
received reasonably equivalent value in
such transactions would be tried on behalf
of all creditors of New Grace starting on
September 30, 2002 and designated a firm
to prosecute that action. The Company
believes that the Cryovac Transaction was
not a fraudulent transfer and the Com-
pany intends to defend its interests
vigorously.

During 2001, the Company paid approx-
imately $8,000, unrelated to the asbestos

and fraudulent transfer claims described
above, which was primarily a result of
the Company’s guarantee, entered into at
the time of the Cryovac Transaction, of
certain debt payable by W. R. Grace &
Co. — Conn., which filed for reorganiza-
tion along with New Grace.

In January 2002, the Company filed a
declaratory judgment action against Frese-
nius Medical Care Holdings, Inc., its par-
ent, Fresenius AG, a German company,
and certain of its affiliates (collectively,
“Fresenius”) in New York State court ask-
ing the court to resolve a contract dispute
between the parties. Fresenius contends
that the Company is obligated to indem-
nify Fresenius for’ certain liabilities that
Fresenius may incur as a result of the 1996
Fresenius transaction mentioned above.
Fresenius's contention is based on its inter-
pretation of the agreements berween Frese-
nius and such New Grace subsidiary in
connection with the 1996 Fresenius trans-
action. In February 2002, Fresenius
announced that it had accrued a charge
of $172,000 for such potential liabilities,
which include pre-transaction tax liabili-
ties of New Grace and the costs of defense
of lidgation arising from New Graces
Chapter 11 filing. The Company believes
that it is not responsible to indemnify
Fresenius under the 1996 agreements and
has filed the action in order to proceed to
a resolution of Freseniuss claims. How-
ever, if the court were to rule against the
Company and if Fresenius were to incur a
material liability subject to an indemnifi-
cation obligation, then the outcome of the
action could have a marerial adverse effect
on the Companys consolidated results
of operations and financial position. The
action is in its early stages, and Fresenius
has not yet responded to the complaint.

In view of New Grace’s Chapter. 11 filing,
the Company may receive additional
claims asserting that the Company is liable
for obligations that New Grace had agreed
to retain in the Cryovac Transaction and
for which the Company may be contin-
gently liable. To date, no material
additional claims have been asserted or
threatened against the Company.

Under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America,
an accrual for a contingent liability is
appropriate only if it is probable that a lia-
bility has been incurred and if the amount
of the liability can be reasonably estimated.
The Company does not believe that these
conditions have been met with respect to
the claims against the Company related to
the alleged asbestos liabilities, the fraudu-
lent transfer claims or the Fresenius
indemnification matter, all of which are
described above. Accordingly, the Com-
pany has not made any accrual for these
matters as of December 31, 2001.

Final determinations and accountings
under the Transaction Agreements with
respect to matters pertaining to the
Cryovac Transaction had not been com-
pleted at the time of New Grace’s Chap-
ter 11 filing. The Company expects to file”
a claim in the bankruptcy proceeding that
will include all of the costs and liabilities
that it has incurred or may incur that
New Grace agreed to retain or that are
subject to indemnification by New Grace
under the Transaction Agreements, less
certain amounts that the Company is
responsible for under the Transaction
Agreements. Costs and liabilities for which
the Company intends to seek indemnifi-
cation by New Grace will include certain
defense costs related to asbestos and fraud-
ulent transfer litigation and the Fresenius
claims, the guaranteed debt paid by the
Company described above, any recovery
by the creditors of New Grace if the Com-
pany were not successful in defending
against the fraudulent transfer or asbestos
claims described above, any recovery by
Fresenius if the Company were held liable
to indemnify Fresenius and Fresenius were
to incur an indemnifiable liability, or any
of the other potential claims against the
Company mentioned above. The Com-
pany expects that its claim will be as an
unsecured creditor of New Grace. It is
not currently possible to determine the
amount of the Company's claim against
New Grace or the amount of the Com-
pany's recovery, if any, in the bankruptey

proceeding.
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. v
N Ou®E il QD - New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS
No. 141, “Business Combinations”
(“SFAS No. 141”), and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
(“SFAS No. 1427). SFAS No. 141 requires
that the purchase method of accounting
be used for all business combinations initi-
ated after June 30, 2001 as well as all pur-
chase method business combinations
completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No.
142 will require that goodwil! and intangj-
ble assets with indefinite useful lives no
longer be amortized, burt instead be tested
for impairment at least annually in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 142. This new standard also requires
that intangible assets with definite useful
lives be amortized over their respective
estimated useful lives to their estimated
residual values, and reviewed for impair-
ment in accordance with SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
Be Disposed of.”

The Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 141 immediately and adopted
SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002.
Any goodwill and any intangible asset
determined to have an indefinite useful life
that were acquired in a purchase business
combination completed after June 30,
2001 were not amortized, but were evalu-
ated for impairment in accordance with
the appropriate pre-SFAS No. 142
accounting literature. Goodwill and intan-
gible assets acquired in business combina-
tions completed before July 1, 2001 were
amortized through the end of 2001.

In connection with the transitional
impairment evaluation, SFAS No. 142
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requires the Company to perform an
assessment of whether goodwill and other
intangible assets are impaired as of Janu-
ary 1, 2002. Because of the uncertainty,
necessitated by the extensive effort needed
to comply with the adoption of SFAS
No. 142, further evaluation is needed
1o complete the transitional goodwill
impairment test provisions of SFAS
No. 142. However, the Company believes,
based on its preliminary evaluation, that
adoption of the new standard should not
result in a material transitional impair-
ment charge to the consolidated statement
of earnings. The Company is required by
this standard to complete the assessment
process no later than June 30, 2002 and to
record any impairment loss as soon as pos-
sible but no later than the end of 2002.
Transitional impairment losses, if any,
will be recognized as a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle in
the Company’s statement of earnings. The
Company expects to complete this process
as required.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company
has unamortized goodwill in the amount
of $1,913,000 and unamortized identifi-
able intangible assets in the amount of
approximately $23,474, all of which will
be subject to the transition provisions of
SFAS Nos. 141 and 142. Amortization
expense related to goodwill was $57,005
and $51,776 for years ended December
31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Begin-
ning January 1, 2002, in accordance with
SFAS No. 142, the Company is no longer
recording amortization expense related to
goodwill. Although goodwill will no
longer be systematically amortized, this
standard requires that periodic reviews be
conducted to assess whether or not the

carrying amount of goodwill may be
impaired. Such reviews could result in
future write-downs of goodwill which
would be reflected as a charge against
operating income.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 143, “Asset Retirement Obligations”
(“SFAS No. 1437), which provides the
accounting requirements for retirement
obligations associated with tangible long-
lived assets. This statement requires enti-
ties to record the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation in the period
in which it is incurred. The Company.
expects to. adopt this standard beginning
January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS
No. 143 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, the Company
adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”), which
excludes from the definition of long-lived
assets goodwill and other intangibles that
are not amortized in accordance with
SEAS No. 142. SFAS No. 144 requires
that long-lived assets to be disposed of by
sale be measured at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value less cost to sell,
whether reported in continuing operations
or in discontinued operations. SFAS
No. 144 also expands the reporting of
discontinued operations to include com-
ponents of an entity that have been or
will be disposed of rather than limiting
such discontinuance to a segment of a
business. The adoption of SFAS No. 143
is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.




N @ﬂ:@ 2 @ Interim Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
(Amounts in thousands, except for per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2001 .
Ner sales $758,272 $761,599 $766,221 $781,390
Gross profit 240,245 242,154 249,604 258,284
Net earnings ’ 34,560 39,264 44,410 38,463
Preferred stock dividends ) 13,754 13,804 13,804 13,662
Earnings per common share — basic (¥ v 0.30 0.30 0.40 0.30
Earnings per commion share — dituted () - 0.25 0.30 0.37 0.30
2000
Net sales $741,464 $756,841 $773,255 $796,154
Gross profit 257,989 253,973 253,434 269,908
Net earnings 54,983 53,831 54,714 61,791
Preferred stock dividends 17,097 . 17,002 15,991 14,176
Earnings per common share — basic (¥ 0.49 0.44 0.57 0.97
Earnings per common share ~ diluted © 0.45 0.44 0.46 0.56

(1) The sum of the four quarter’s earnings per common share may not equal the amounts reported for the full year since each period is calculated separately.
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Sealed Air Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sealed Air Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and
2000, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, equity, cash flows, and comprehensive income for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2001. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audic also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Sealed Air Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended Decemnber 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

KPmMe P

KPMG LLP
Short Hills, New Jersey
January 24, 2002
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Directors

Hank Brown(1 (2)
President,

University of

Northern Colorado
Elected to Board in 1997

John K. Castle
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer,
Castle Harlan, Inc.
(Merchant Banking Firm)
Elected to Board in 1971

Lawrence R. Codey(!) (2) 3)
Former President,
Public Service Electric and

Gas Company
Elected to Board in 1993

(1) Member of Audit Commirtee.

(2) Member of Nominating Committee.

T. J. Dermot Dunphy
Chairman and

Chief Execurive Officer,
Kildare Enterprises, LLC
(Private Equity Investment
and Management Firm)
Elected to Board in 1969

Charles F. Farrell, Jr.(3)
President,

Crystal Creek Associates, LLC
(Investment Management and

Business Consulting Firm)
Elected to Board in 1971

William V. Hickey
President and

Chief Executive Officer,
Sealed Air Corporation
Elected to Board in 1999

(3) Member of Organization and Compensation Committee.

Shirley Ann Jackson(D) (2) (3)

President,

Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute

Elected to Board in 1999

Alan H. Miller
Private Investor
Elected to Board in 1984

The dates shown above indicate the year in which each of the directors was first elected a director of the Company or of old Sealed Air.

Dr. Jackson also served as a director of old Sealed Air from 1992 to 1995.

—

Officers

William V. Hickey
President and

Chief Execurive Officer

First elected an officer in 1980

Robert A. Pesci

Senior Vice President
First elected an officer in 1990

David H. Kelsey

Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

First elected an officer in 2002

Jonathan B. Baker

Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

James A. Bixby

Vice President
First elected an officer in 1990

Mary A. Coveritry
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

Jean-Luc Debry
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1992

James P. Mix
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

Manuel Mondragén
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

Carol Lee O’Neill

Vice President
First elected an officer in 2002

J. Stuart K. Prosser
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

Abraham N. Reichental

Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

Hugh L. Sargant
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

Frederick Smagorinsky

Vice President
First elected an officer in 2001

James Donald Tate

Vice President
First elected an officer in 2001

Tod S. Christie

Treasurer
First elected an officer in 1999

Jeffrey S. Warren

Controller
First elected an officer in 1996

H. Katherine White

General Counsel and Secretary
First elected an officer in 1996

The dates shown above indicate the year in which each of the officers was first elected an officer of the Company or of old Sealed Air.
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Corporate Directory

Corporate Headquarters The Americas Europe
Sealed Air Corporation Argentina Belgium
Park 80 East Brazil Czech Republic
Saddle Brook, NJ 07663 - 5291 Canada Denmark
Phone:  (201) 791-7600 Chile Eneland
Telefax: (201) 703-4205 glan
Internet: www.sealedair.com Colombia Finland
Costa Rica France
Ecuador Germany
Guatemala Greece
Mexico Holland
Peru Hungary
United States Ireland
Uruguay Israel
Venezuela Italy
Norway
Poland
Portugal
Russia
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland

Countries In Which Sealed Air and its Subsidiaries Operate

Africa Australasia

South Africa Australia
New Zealand

Asia

China
Hong Kong
India
Indonesia
Japan
Korea
Malaysia
Philippines
Singapore
Taiwan

Thailand

—

~ Safety and Environment

Sealed Air is committed to providing
safe working conditions for our employ-
ees and to investing in product research,
development and rtesting to promote the
safe design, use and handling of its prod-
ucts throughout the world.

We are dedicated to being pro-active on
environmental issues affecting our busi-
ness and industry and to providing a
safe workplace. Our Environment,
Health and Safety Steering Committee,

comprised of corporate and operating

personnel, is committed to seeing that
our operations are conducted in a way
that is consistent with sound environ-

mental, health and safety practices.

We use significant amounts of recycled
materials in our protective packaging
products both by acquiring such mate-
rials from third parties, such as newspa-
pers which are used in our Jiffy®
Padded Mailers, and by recycling and
reprocessing scrap materials generated
in our manufacturing processes. We

also participate in programs to collect
packaging materials from our distribu-
tors and other customers and recycle
and reprocess those materials.

Through management leadership and
the use of key safety process tools, we
strive to improve workplace safety and
reduce injuries. We also work toward
safery and environmental excellence as
an integral part of our World Class
Manufacturing program.

—

Code of Conduct

Under our Code of Conduct, we seek to
conduct our business in accordance with
the highest standards of business ethics
at all of our locations throughout the
world, and we encourage employees to
bring ethical questions to management’s
attention so that we can maintain our

high standards.
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The common values of high business
ethics that have characterized our approach
to business throughout our history
demand high professional standards, place
a premium on honesty and fair dealing in
relationships with our customers, suppliers,
employees and other persons with whom
we have business reladonships, and antici-

pate that we will compete vigorously and
fairly in the markets we serve and comply
with laws that affect our business.

The Code of Conduct also reinforces
our commitment to the spirit and prac-
tice of equal employment opportunity
and the benefits of a diverse work force.




Stockholder Information

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of stockholders of
the Company is scheduled to be held
on May 17, 2002 at 10:00 A.M.
E.D.T. at the Saddle Brook Marriott,
Garden State Parkway at I-80, Saddle
Brook, New Jersey 07663-5894.

Sealed Air’s Annual Report to
Stockholders is sent to all stockholders
of record and to the street name hold-
ers through banks and brokerage hous-
es each year at the end of March unless
electronic access has been authorized
by the stockholder. It can also be
accessed through the Company’s web
site at www.sealedair.com.

Press Releases

As a New York Stock Exchange listed
company (NYSE symbol SEE), Sealed
Air issues quarterly earning reports and
other news releases to the general

media. They can also be accessed .

through the Company’s web site at
www.sealedair.com.

Stockholders who wish to receive
paper copies of these releases should

advise the Company by éalling 866-
551-7925 or by writing to Investor
Relations at the address below.

Investor Relations

Sealed Air Corporation

Park 80 East

Saddle Brook, New Jersey 07663-5291

Securities and Exchange Commission
Reports

Sealed Air’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission is available at
the end of March each year, and quar-
terly Form 10-Q reports are available in
mid-May, mid-August, and mid-

November each year.

The Company’s SEC filings ate avail-
able in the Investor Information section

of the Company’s web site at

www.sealedair.com. Copies may also be
obtained by calling 866-551-7925. For

additional information, please contact:

Philip H. Cook, Jr.
Direcror of Corporate
Communications
201-791-7600

Stock Transfer Agent

Mellon Investor Services LL.C

Regular Mail
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, NJ 07606-1915

Registered or Overnight Mail
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660

Internet
www.melloninvestor.com

Telephone

800 648-8381 (US & Canada)
201 329-8660 (International)
201 329-8354 (TDD for

hearing impaired)

Automated telephone support services
are available 24 hours per day 7 days
per week. Mellon customer service
representatives are available from 9:00
am to 7:00 pm Eastern Time, Monday
through Friday.

When calling, please have your social
security number or taxpayer identifica-
tion number available, and please
identify yourself as a Sealed Air share-
holder. You will also need to furnish
them with the name in which your
account is being maintained.

Auditors

KPMG LLP
Short Hills, New Jersey
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Capital Stock Information

The Company’s Common Stock is list-
ed on the New York Stock Exchange
(trading symbol: SEE). The adjacent
table sets forth the quarterly high and
low sales prices of the Common Stock
for 2000 and 2001. No dividends were
paid on the Common Stock in either
- year. The Company does not currently
intend to begin paying dividends on its
Common Stock. As of January 31, 2002
there were approximately 9,592 holders
of record of the Company’s Common

Stock.

The Company’s Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock is also listed on the
New York Stock Exchange (trading
symbol: SEE PrA). The adjacent table
sets forth the quarterly high and low
sales prices for the Series A Preferred
Stock for 2000 and 2001. Quarterly
dividends of $0.50 per share were paid
on the Preferred Stock in each year. As
of January 31, 2002 there were approxi-
mately 7,823 holders of record of the
Preferred Stock.
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Commeon Stock

2000 High Low
First Quarter $61.88 $43.38
Second Quarter $59.50 $50.63
Third Quarter $54.75 $43.81
Fourth Quarter $52.50 $26.38
2001 High Low
First Quarter $41.80 $28.80
. Second Quarter $44.80 $30.42
Third Quarter $41.64 $31.93
Fourth Quarter $47.10 $35.30
Preferred Stock
2000 High Low
First Quarter $57.94 $43.13
Second Quarter $56.00 $48.00
Third Quarter $51.94 $43.50
Fourth Quarter $50.50 $29.13
2001 High Low
First Quarter $42.50 $30.99
Second Quarter $46.25 $33.83
Third Quarter $43.70 $34.50
Fourth Quarter $47.00 $38.00
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